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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET ( “GEM” ) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE" )

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on The Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” ) of China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company” ) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$46,277,000 (2015: HK$45,701,000)
representing tuition fee revenue and sales of educational products.
Gross profit for the year under review was approximately
HK$19,737,000 (2015: HK$17,613,000), representing a gross
profit margin of 42.7% for the year under review.

During the year, cost of goods sold and services provided
amounted to appr oximately HK$26,540,000 (2015:
HK$28,088,000) representing the overheads incurred in the
distance learning courses.

Other income for the year under review was approximately
HK$138,000 (2015: HK$310,000) representing an interest income
of approximately HK$53,000 (2015: HK$74,000) and a sundry
income of approximately HK$85,000 (2015: HK$20,000).

Administrative expenses for the year under review were
approximately HK$42,955,000 (2015: HK$28,773,000), of which
staff related costs were approximately HK$35,655,000 (2015:
HK$20,942,000). Legal and professional fees were approximately
HK$10,258,000 (2015: HK$4,953,000) representing the costs of
conducting due diligences and obtaining financial advices with
ongoing projects.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, management has
assessed the recoverability of other receivables by reference
to the subsequent settlement and ageing, current market
conditions. Before the date of the approval of the consolidated
financial statements, the management is seeking for various
ways of recovering and/or utilizing those other receivables for
the best interest of the Company, including but not limited to
any subsequent disposal in consideration of other assets for the
Company. The Company has assessed the possible impairment
of any such receivables and an impairment loss of approximately
HK$60,887,000 is provided in the assessment process for the year
ended 31 December 2016 taking into account market conditions,
subsequent settlement among other things.
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Other expenses for the year under review were approximately
HK$21,740,000 (2015: HK$5,170,000), representing, a net
realised losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$10,203,000 (2015: 4,122,000) a net
unrealised losses on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$8,149,000 (2015: 802,000) and
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment approximately
HK$3,388,000 (2015: Nil).

Finance costs during the year were approximately HK$569,000
(2015: HK$630,000).

Capital structure, liquidity and financial
resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly by cash
revenue generated internally from operating activities and additional
funds from exercise of share options. As at 31 December 2016,
the Group has current assets of approximately HK$144,130,000
(2015: HK$221,691,000), including bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$51,128,000 (2015: HK$64,061,000). Total
non-current assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$51,401,000 (2015: HK$5,500,000), representing property,
plant and equipment and investment in an associate. Total assets
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$195,531,000 (2015:
HK$227,191,000) as at 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any outstanding
bank borrowing. Total current liabilities of the Group were
approximately HK$41,956,000 (2015: HK$49,483,000), which
mainly comprised trade and other payables and convertible notes.
Total liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$41,956,000
(2015: HK$49,483,000). As at 31 December 2016, the Group had
net assets of HK$153,575,000 (2015: HK$177,708,000).

Gearing ratio

Gearing ratio of the Group, as expressed as the ratio of total
liabilities to total assets, was approximately 0.29 as at 31
December 2016 (2015: 0.22).
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Share Capital

As at 1 January 2016, the authorised share capital of the Company
was HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.10 each and the issued share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$294,510,000 divided into 2,945,103,196 shares
of HK$0.10 each.

During the year, 169,400,000 shares were issued upon exercise
of shares options and 190,476,190 shares were issued for
acquisition.

As at 31 December 2016, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each and the issued share capital of the
Company was approximately HK$330,498,000 divided into
3,304,979,386 shares of HK$0.10 each

Convertible Notes 2011

The Group had reached several agreements with the holders of
the Convertible Notes 2008 which became mature on 28 February
2011, and issued a promissory note for approximately HK$50
million for a settlement. In order to be able to raise sufficient
fund for the settlement, the Group issued two tranches of
convertible notes (“Convertible Notes 2011 A”) on 9 May 2011 and
(“Convertible Notes 2011 B”) on 11 May 2011.

The aggregate principal of Convertible Notes 2011 A amounted to
HK$89,999,934, bearing an interest of 1% per annum, maturing
in 36 months from the date of issue, and convertible into ordinary
shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share, subject to
adjustments.

The aggregate principal of Convertible Notes 2011 B amounted to
HK$36,200,000, bearing an interest of 1% per annum, maturing
in 6 months from the date of issue, and convertible into ordinary
shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share, subject to
adjustments. On 11 November 2011, the maturity date was
successfully postponed for another 6 months to 11 May 2012.
Upon maturity, the principal amount together with the interests due
were fully settled by a promissory note.
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On 9 May 2014, the Company and the Subscribers entered into
the Subscription Agreements pursuant to which the Subscribers
have agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has agreed to
issue, the Convertible Notes (CN2016-1 to CN2016-5) in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$42,399,932, such that the
subscription moneys payable in connection with the Subscription
of such Convertible Notes would be set-off against the moneys
payable by the Company for redeeming the CN2011A in
accordance with the Payment Arrangement Deed and against
the Indebtedness owing by the Company to the Existing P-note
Holders at Completion.

The Convertible Notes 2011 A were fully set-off by the issuance
of Convertible Notes (CN2016-3, CN2016-4 and CN2016-5) on 6
June 2014.

On 12 June 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the CN2016-
1, CN2016-2 and CN2016-3 have been exercised in full and
hence 231,076,922 shares have been issued.

On 13 June 2014, the conversion rights attaching to the
CN2016-4 and CN2016-5 have been exercised in full and hence
95,076,399 shares have been issued. Hence, Convertible Notes
2016 (CN2016-1, CN2016-2, CN2016-3, CN2016-4 and
CN2016-5) were fully converted.
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On 21 July 2011, the Group entered into a subscription agreement
with a group of independent subscribers for the issuance of
some convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$42,000,000, bearing an interest rate of 3% per annum,
maturing in 12 months from the date of issue, and convertible into
ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share, subject
to adjustments. Subsequently, the Group issued two tranches
of convertible notes (“Convertible Notes 2011 C”) on 25 August
2011 for the principal amount of HK$19,500,000 and (“Convertible
Notes 2011 D”) on 14 September 2011 for the principal amount of
HK$22,500,000. Of which, tranche C was fully converted in 2011.
On 10 September 2012, the maturity date of the tranche D was
postponed foranother 6 months to 7 March 2013. On 7 March
2013, the maturity date of the tranche D was further postponed
for 12 months to 6 March 2014. As at 1 January 2014, the
outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes 2011 D was
HK$12,800,000.

On 6 March 2014, the Company has redeemed one of
the Convertible Notes 2011 D with the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 in accordance with notice from the holder. The
Company is contacting the holder of the Convertible Notes 2011
D with the principal amount of HK$2,800,000 in order to settle the
convertible notes. As at 31 December 2016, the Company has not
received any reply or notice from the holder and the Company has
the funds available for settlement.

Convertible Notes 2012

Pursuant to the acquisition of 100% interest in Everjoy Technology
Development Corporation, the Company issued convertible notes
(“ETCN”) as partial settlement of the acquisition consideration on
20 December 2012. The aggregate principal of ETCN amounted
to HK$9,611,906, bearing an interest of 1% per annum, maturing
in 36 months from the date of issue, and convertible into ordinary
shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share, subject to
adjustments.

On 24 April 2014, the conversion rights attaching to ETCN in the

principal amount of HK$7,611,906 have been exercised in full and
hence 15,223,812 shares have been issued.
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Pursuant to the acquisition of 100% interest in Everjoy Inter
national Media Corporation, the Company issued convertible notes
(“EICN”) as partial settlement of the acquisition consideration on
20 December 2012. The aggregate principal of EICN amounted to
HK$58,235,956, bearing an interest of 1% per annum, maturing
in 36 months from the date of issue, and convertible into ordinary
shares at conversion price of HK$0.50 per share, subject to
adjustments.

On 15 August 2014 (after trading hours), the Company and
the note holders of ETCN and EICN entered into the Deeds of
Amendment, pursuant to which the Company and the note holders
of ETCN and EICN agreed to amend certain terms and conditions
of the Convertible Notes. Pursuant to the Deeds of Amendment,
(i) the Conversion Price of ETCN and EICN will be reduced from
HK$0.50 per Share to HK$0.35 per Share; and (i) the interest rate
of ETCN and EICN will be reduced from 1% per annum to zero.
Save as amended pursuant to the Deeds of Amendment, all other
terms of ETCN and EICN shall remain unchanged and valid.

Furthermore, the Company and each of the note holders of ETCN
and EICN entered into a supplemental deed to amend certain
terms of the Deeds of Amendment on 16 September 2014.

Assuming the conversion rights attaching to ETCN and EICN are
exercised in full at the Conversion Price of HK$0.35, pursuant to
ETCN and EICN,172,102,729 conversion shares will be issued by
the Company upon exercise of the conversion rights attaching to
ETCN and EICN in full.

On 25 September 2014, an ordinary resolution regarding the
proposed Amendment of Terms and the Deeds of Amendment
and the transactions contemplated thereunder was proposed to
the Company’s extraordinary general meeting to be held on 15
October 2014 for independent shareholders’ approval by way of
poll.

On 15 October 2014, the resolution in relation to the proposed
amendment to the terms and conditions of ETCN and EICN was
duly passed by the independent shareholders by way of poll at the
Company’s extraordinary general meeting.
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On 27 October 2014, the Stock Exchange granted its approval
for the Amendment of Terms and the listing of the conversion
shares to be issued as a result of the exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to ETCN and EICN as amended by the Deeds
of Amendment and therefore all the conditions precedent for the
Amendment of Terms under the Deeds of Amendment have been
fulfilled and the Amendment of Terms has become effective on 27
October 2014.

On 30 October 2014, the conversion rights attaching to ETCN in
the principal amount of HK$2,000,000 have been exercised and
hence 5,714,285 shares have been issued. Hence ETCN were fully
converted.

On 30 October 2014, the conversion rights attaching to EICN in
the principal amount of HK$35,000,000 have been exercised and
hence 99,999,999 shares have been issued. On 16 December
2014, the conversion rights attaching to EICN in the principal
amount of HK$13,235,956 have been exercised and hence
37,817,017 shares have been issued.

As at 1 January 2016, the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of EICN was HK$10,000,000. The exercise in full of the
vested conversion rights would result in the issue and allotment of
28,571,428 new shares of the Company.

On 18 December 2015 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into the Subscription Agreement with Ms. Li Jing, pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue, and
Ms. Li Jing has agreed to subscribe for the Convertible Notes
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 for a total
consideration of HK$10,000,000, all of which shall be setoff in
full against the equivalent amount of indebtedness owning by the
Company to Ms. Li Jing under EICN at the Completion. EICN
was matured on 20 December 2015. Completion of the issue
of the Convertible Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 took place on 13 January 2016.
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Convertible Notes 2018

On 18 December 2015 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into the Subscription Agreement with Ms. Li Jing, pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement, the Company has agreed to issue, and
Ms. Li Jing has agreed to subscribe for the Convertible Notes
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 for a total
consideration of HK$10,000,000, all of which shall be setoff in
full against the equivalent amount of indebtedness owning by the
Company to Ms. Li Jing under EICN at the Completion.

Completion of the issue of the Convertible Notes 2018 (CN2018) in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 took place on
13 January 2016.

As at 30 September 2016, the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of CN2018 was HK$10,000,000. The exercise in full of the
vested conversion rights would result in the issue and allotment of
28,571,428 new shares of the Company.

Foreign exchange exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Although
the exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi
has been moderately changing, it remains relatively stable. As
the expenditure in PRC was covered by the sales in PRC, the
management considers that the Group has no significant foreign
exchange exposures. Foreign exchange risk arising from the
normal course of operations is considered as minimal. As at 31
December 2016, the Group has no foreign currency borrowings
and has not used any financial instrument for hedging the foreign
exchange risk.
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Significant investments and material
acquisition

On 17 November 2014, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement (“Strategic Cooperation Agreement”) with
Beijing Beizhong Asset Management Company Limited (1t 53k
BEEEEERAH
of 49% of the right of income of the Distance Education College
of the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (3t & 28 &% K £

B E Z5%) from the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (it,'?
A28 %K £8) to the Company and other cooperation projects (the

) (“Beijing Beizhong”) in relation to the transfer

“Cooperation”).

On 12 February 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed
in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect
of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement for
another three months.

On 16 May 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed in
writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect of
the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement for
another nine months and extend the time limit for the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement to lapse and cease to have any legal
effect for one more year.

On 16 November 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong
agreed in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions
in respect of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement for another six months (that is, a total of 18 months
from 17 November 2014).

On 16 May 2016, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed in
writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect of
the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement for
another six months.

On 16 November 2016, the Company and Beijing Beizhong are
negotiating about extending the time for taking practical actions
in respect of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement.
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On 28 November 2016, the Company and Beijing Beizhong
agreed in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions
in respect of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement to 31 December 2016.

During the period from 17 December 2015 to 14 January 2016,
the Company purchased a total of 7,427,000 Wai Chi Shares on
the Stock Exchange at the prices per Wai Chi Share ranging from
HK$3.33 to HK$4.00. The total consideration of the Acquisition
was approximately HK$29.4 million. As a result of the Acquisition,
the Group held 3.71% of Wai Chi Shares. The Acquisition was
made by the Company solely for trading purpose.

On 23 August 2016, the Company entered into a Memorandum of
Cooperation with Ms. Zhang Manlin, being holder of Beijing Huada
Kanghong iotechnology Co., Ltd. (bt REZRELE YR FR
EE 2 7)) (the “Target Company I”) as to 30%, Mr. Yao Xianguo,
being holder of the Target Company | as to 30%, and Mr. Zhujiang,
being holder of the Target Company | as to 40%, (collectively
hold in aggregate 100% equity interest of the Target Company
), in relation to the possible transfer of not less than 65% of the
equity interest of the Target Company | to the Company and other
cooperation projects. The Target Company | is a limited company
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China. It is principally
engaged in the business of prepackaged food wholesale and
biotechnology development. The consideration has not yet been
determined but shall be determined with reference to the value
of the Target Company | to be assessed by an independent
professional valuer to be appointed by the Parties and may be
satisfied by the Company’s issue of convertible notes, and the
price for issuing such Shares and the conversion price of such
convertible notes shall not exceed HK$0.20 to HK$0.22 per
Share. The reason for the possible transfer was for the Company
to develop the health food market. Details of which were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 23 August 2016.
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On 30 August 2016, Million Forever Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into the Sale and Purchase
Agreement with Happy Leisure Corp. in relation to the acquisition
of 45% equity interest in Business Harbour Inc. Business Harbour
Inc. is principally engaged in the compilation and production of
the content of online education courses and related business.
The maximum consideration was HK$50,000,000 which will
be satisfied by (i) issue and allotment of 190,476,190 ordinary
shares at HK$0.21 per ordinary shares by the Company of
HK$40,000,000 in total; (i) HK$10,000,000 to be settled by cash
upon fulfilment of profit guarantee. A valuation report was issued
by an independent professional valuer on 25 August 2016 and
the value of Business Harbour Inc., as at 24 August 2016, was
determined as HK$150,000,000. On 2 November 2016, the
acquisition was completed with the terms and conditions of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement. Details of which were disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 30 August 2016,
31 August 2016, 21 September 2016, 30 September 2016 and 2
November 2016.

On 11 October 2016 and 24 October 2016, Beijing Hua Tuo
Education Technology Company Limited (It ZEFRH BRI ER L
7)), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;, entered into an agreement
and a supplementary agreement with Mr. Wang Peng and Mr. Ma
Liejun in relation to a possible acquisition of 49% equity interest in
Beijing Youli Lianxu Technology Co., Ltd. (1t FRE H B BRI AR 2
7]) (the “Target Company II), at a consideration of HK$91,581,000
(subject to adjustment) to be settled by the Company’s issue
of convertible note with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$91,581,000, which may be converted into 384,794,117
shares at HK$0.238 per share (subject to adjustment). The reason
for the possible acquisition was for the Company to develop the
internet platform sale market. Details of which and the major terms
of the adjustment were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 11 October 2016 and 24 October 2016.
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On 1 November 2016, the Company and Legend Japanese Food
Limited (s38# B A B mAER A7) (‘LJFL") signed a memorandum
of cooperation for the Company’s possible acquisition of all or
part of the equity interest in Shag Mei International Food Limited
(EWBEEERERADAE) (‘Target Company III”) and/or its related
companies (the “Target Companies”) and the other cooperation
projects. The Target Company Il is a limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong which is principally engaged in the business of food
processing and sale. LJFL owns the entire issued share capital
of the Target Company lll. The consideration has not yet been
determined but shall be determined with reference to the value
of the Target Company Ill to be assessed by an independent
professional valuer to be appointed by the Parties and may be
satisfied by the Company’s issue of convertible notes, and the
price for issuing such Shares and the conversion price of such
convertible notes shall not exceed HK$0.28 per Share. The
reason for the possible acquisition was for the Company to
develop the business of food processing and sale. Details of which
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 1
November 2016.

On 21 December 2016 Company and LJFL entered into the
Agreement in relation to a possible acquisition of all equity interest
in Target Company ll, at a consideration of HK$96,000,000 (subject
to adjustment) to be settled by the Company’s issue of convertible
note with an aggregate principal amount of HK$96,000,000, which
may be converted into 369,230,769 shares at HK$0.26 per share
(subject to adjustment). The reason for the possible acquisition
was for the Company to develop the business of food processing
and sale market. Details of which and the major terms of the
adjustment were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 21 December 2016.
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On 15 November 2016 the Company and Joyful Area Worldwide
Limited (“JAWL”") entered into the Memorandum of Cooperation
for the Company’s possible acquisition of all of the equity interest
in the Maxi Trick Investment Limited (the “Target Company V")
and other cooperation projects. The Target Company IV is a
limited company incorporated in Vanuatu. The Target Company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in internet sales and
electric commerce and trading. JAWL owns the entire issued
share capital of the Target Company IV. The consideration has
not yet been determined but shall be determined with reference
to the value of the Target Company IV to be assessed by an
independent professional valuer to be appointed by the Parties
and may be satisfied by the Company’s issue of convertible notes,
and the price for issuing such Shares and the conversion price of
such convertible notes shall range from HK$0.257 to HK$0.265
per Share. The reason for the possible acquisition was for the
Company to develop the internet and electric sales and commerce
and trading business. Details of which were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 15 November 2016.

On 29 December 2016 Company and JAWL entered into the
Agreement in relation to a possible acquisition of all equity interest
in Target Company |V, at a consideration of HK$157,500,000
(subject to adjustment) to be settled by the Company’s issue
of convertible note with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$157,500,000, which may be converted into 637,651,821
shares at HK$0.247 per share (subject to adjustment). The reason
for the possible acquisition was for the Company to develop the
business of internet sales and electric commerce and trading.
Details of which and the major terms of the adjustment were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 29
December 2016.
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On 28 November 2016 the Company and Mr. Ma and Mr. Zhao
entered into the Memorandum of Cooperation for the Company’s
possible acquisition of all of the equity interest in the Beijing
Dingtai Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company V”) and other
cooperation projects. The Target Company V is a limited company
incorporated in Beijing. The Target Company is principally
engaged in electric commerce and trading and marketing and
product research and development business and owns self-
developed brands. Mr. Ma and Mr. Zhao own the entire issued
share capital of the Target Company V. The consideration has
not yet been determined but shall be determined with reference
to the value of the Target Company V to be assessed by an
independent professional valuer to be appointed by the Parties
and may be satisfied by the Company’s issue of convertible
notes, and the price for issuing such Shares and the conversion
price of such convertible notes shall range from HK$0.264 to
HK$0.266 per Share. The reason for the possible acquisition was
for the Company to develop the electric commerce and trading
and marketing business. Details of which were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 November 2016.

On 20 March 2017 the Company and Zhong He Xin Yuan
Technology Company Limited* R #Z#ERIE R A 7 (‘ZHXY”)
entered into a strategic cooperation agreement. ZHXY is a
company incorporated with limited liability in the People’s Republic
of China and is a member of the China Nuclear Industry Group* &
B T#% M. Zhong He Xin Yuan owns the core technologies in
the application of nuclear technologies, including but not limited to
the design and setting of the standards of irradiation station, and in
the manufacturing and application of irradiation accelerators. The
reason for the signing of the Strategic Cooperation Agreement and
the cooperation with Zhong He Xin Yuan will enable the Company
to venture into in the business of irradiation. Details of which were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 20 March
2017.

The Company believed that the above mentioned possible
acquisition and/or completed acquisitions, when materialized, will
strengthen the positive cash flow and earnings for the Group in the
long run.
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Significant investments

On 30 August 2016, the Company entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with the Vendor in relation to the acquisition
of 45% equity interest in Business Harbour Inc.

For detailed information regarding the transaction of Business
Harbour Inc., please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 30 August 2016.

On 2 November 2016, the Company was completed with the
terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

For detailed information regarding the completion of transaction,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3
November 2016.

Contingent liabilities and charges on the
Group’s assets

There were no significant contingent liabilities or charges on the
Group’s assets as at 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of an internet
platform for the facilitation of education program in Chinese
medicine and other advisory and training programs.
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On 1 July 2010, the Joint Construction of Network Education
College of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine Agreement (3£
Bt RPEEASBHEYE SRz ) (‘Joint Construction
Agreement”) entered into between Beijing University of Chinese
Medicine (1t & # & % X £) and Hunan IIN Medical Network
Technology Development Co., Ltd. (“Hunan IIN Medical”), a
subsidiary of [IN Medical (BVI), was successfully renewed. In
accordance with the Joint Construction Agreement, Hunan [IN
Medical’s entitlement to share 60% of the profits of Distance
Education College of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (1t
R BE koK B F2 # B 2 fx) (“Distance Education College”) is
reduced to 51% profit-sharing percentage during the year 2010
while all other terms and conditions thereunder are not less
favourable than those under the Joint Construction Agreement.
This e-learning business remained the core business of the Group
in 2016.

On 14 April 2015, Hunan IIN Medical, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a supplemental agreement (the
“Agreement”) with the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (it
R B K £ (“BUCM”) for amending the agreement dated 29th
June 2010 signed between them. Pursuant to the Agreement,
Hunan IIN Medical will pass its daily business management and
administrative management in respect of the Distance Education
College of the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (1t 72 25 %
NERFEHE %) (the”Distance Education College”) to BUCM.

In response to the disclaimer of opinion stated in the annual report
for the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has taken
initiative to proceed a voluntary interim audit for the year 2016
in order to improve by providing the auditor with sufficient audit
evidence in support of management’s decision with regard to the
measurement and disclosure of certain material amount involved
in the presentation of consolidated financial statements. The
results and work done of the voluntary interim audit performed
by the auditors has been incorporated into this Annual Report.
All the matter as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
paragraph of the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2015 were resolved. The auditors expressed an unqualified opinion
on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016 of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEWILN 7

This arrangement is primarily made for the purpose of consolidating
the daily business management and administrative management of
the Distance Education College, so as to reduce operating costs
and increase revenue, fully leverage the advantages of both parties
in their respective areas, and lay a solid foundation for overall
expansion in the future.

Employee Information

For the year under review, the total staff costs amounted
to approximately HK$35,655,000 (2015: HK$20,942,000),
representing an increase of approximately HK$14,713,000 over
the previous year.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees were kept at
a market level and employees were rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually. Staff benefits
include contribution to the mandatory provident fund and share
options. Share options were granted to employees of the Group in
the current year, whereby comparative details are set out in note
33 to the financial statements.

PROSPECTS

The Group’s existing e-learning business will remain the core
business and main cash generator in the near future. This business
is expected to grow in a rather stable manner.

On 17 November 2014, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement (“Strategic Cooperation Agreement”) with
Beijing Beizhong Asset Management Company Limited (1t 53k
BEESIEARAR) (“Beiing Beizhong”) in relation to the transfer
of 49% of the right of income of the Distance Education College
of the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (Jk 7% b B8 % K £2 3=
B E E05%) from the Beijing University of Chinese Medicine (1t 3%

E2#E K E2) to the Company and other cooperation projects (the
“Cooperation”).

On 12 February 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed
in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect
of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement for
another three months.
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On 16 May 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed in
writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect of
the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement for
another nine months and extend the time limit for the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement to lapse and cease to have any legal
effect for one more year.

On 16 November 2015, the Company and Beijing Beizhong
agreed in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions
in respect of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement for another six months (that is, a total of 18 months
from 17 November 2014).

On 16 May 2016, the Company and Beijing Beizhong agreed in
writing to extend the time for taking practical actions in respect of
the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation Agreement for
another six months.

As at 28 November 2016, the Company and Beijing Beizhong
agreed in writing to extend the time for taking practical actions
in respect of the Cooperation under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreement to 31 December 2016.

Furthermore, the Group will implement certain cost-effective
measures to streamline the operation so as to enhance the
profitability and value of this e-learning business. The Company
will continue to look for opportunities for our existing business,
particularly in developing both vertically and horizontally within the
Group’s existing medical education platform, expanding further into
our service network, increase the shareholders’ value and reduce
business risk.

In addition, the Company will continue to look for other attractive
investments in the PRC and locally in an attempt to diversify into
different business areas to reduce the reliance upon existing
e-learning business and strengthen the positive cash flow and
earnings for the Group in the long run.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEAERBRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yuan Wei (“Mr. Yuan”), aged 45, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 19 November 2013 and
further appointed as the authorised representative and compliance
officer of the Company on 14 February 2014; Mr. Yuan holds
an associate degree in Heilongjiang Academy of Finance and
Management for Comrades (R §2/T 4 B & & 3 & 1 £ ). He
joined the Beijing Commercial Bank (1t R A75 % $877) in 1993 and
worked for 12 years. He left the position of manager at the credit
department of the Beijing Commercial Bank in 2005. Mr. Yuan
then engaged in the finance-related business and has gained 21
years of experience in the financial and banking sector. Mr. Yuan
is mainly responsible for the strategy formulation of the Company.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Yuan did not hold any directorships
in any listed public company in the last three years.

Ms. Zhang Jianxin (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 49, was appointed as
an executive Director on 13 July 2016.

Ms. Zhang Jianxin, graduated from the Central Radio and
Television University in accounting in 2003, and obtained the
Senior International Finance Manager Qualification Certificate
from International Financial Management Association and China
Association of Chief Financial Officers in 2008. From July 2007
to Aug 2013, Ms. Zhang was the financial controller of Beijing
Hua Tuo Education Technology Company Limited, a wholly own
subsidiary of the Company. Since September 2013, Ms. Zhang
has been the director of Hunan IIN Medical Network Technology
Development Company Limited* (4378 B 57 82 224848 RHL B A TR
/A a)), a wholly own subsidiary of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Ms. Zhang does not hold any position with the Company
and its subsidiaries and she does not hold any directorship in
other listed companies nor has any other major appointment or
qualification in the last three years.
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Mr. Wang Weihua (“Mr. Wang”), aged 56, was appointed as
executive director of the Company on 15 December 2016.

Mr. Wang graduated from Beijing Institute of Technology with
a master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Wang has
extensive experience in the management field. Mr. Wang does not
hold any position with the Company and its subsidiaries and he
does not hold any directorship in other listed companies nor has
any other major appointment or qualification in the last three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Qunsheng (“Mr. Li”), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee, member of the nomination committee and member
of the remuneration committee of the Company on 7 February
2014. Mr. Li was graduated from Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics in China in 1982 and is currently a certified public
accountant in China. From 1982 to 1993, Mr. Li served in the
Ministry of Finance, Investment Department of the National Audit
Office and the China Audit Administration. In 1993, he served as
vice president of BOT investment & Development Corporation and
was in charge of the financial affairs of the company as well as the
management of its subsidiaries. He was also involved in planning
the investments into high-grade highways and M&A activities.
Mr. Li left office in 1997, and then joined Golden Sino (China
Infrastructure) Development Holdings Limited as general manager,
responsible for project planning, negotiations, project construction
management, capital operation etc. In 1999, Mr. Li joined
Shenzhen Xiansheng Technology Development Co., Ltd. as chief
executive officer, responsible for daily operation and management
of the company and capital operation of the company. Mr. Li
joined Ever Crown International (HK) Limited in 2002 upon its
invitation and served as chief executive officer. After that, Mr. Li
joined Guangzhou Huan Long Expressway Co., Ltd. in 2009 as
managing director, and has been responsible for managing the
Guangzhou City Nansha Port Expressway project since then.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEAERBRE

On 21 February 2014, Mr. Li has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Superb Summit International
Group Limited (stock code: 1228), whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Li did not hold any other position
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did he hold any
directorship or any other major appointment or qualification in
other listed companies in the last three years.

Dr. Huang Chung Hsing (“Dr. Huang”), aged 63, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director and a
member of audit committee of the Company on 14 August 2008.
Dr. Huang holds a Ph.D. degree in Management Science and
Information Systems from the University of Texas at Austin, U.S.A.
and a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Electrical Engineering from
National Taiwan University. Dr. Huang is the Associate Dean of
College of Management, National Taiwan University. He is also the
chairman of the Committee of Service Management of Chinese
Management Association in Taiwan and the associate researcher
of Health Management Center of National Taiwan University
Hospital in Taiwan. He has previously held senior positions in
various universities and banks such as Beijing University in China
and Bank of SinoPac. Dr. Huang has extensive experience in
service operation management, business decision making and
management of innovation.

Save as disclosed above, Dr. Huang did not hold any other
position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did he hold
any directorship in any public listed company in the last three
years.
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Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy (“Ms. Li"), aged 53, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director, member of the audit
committee and member of the remuneration committee of the
Company on 19 November 2013. Ms. Li received her Bachelor of
Art and Bachelor of Finance in China. She started her first job in
Fuiji Xerox Co. Ltd in Sydney in 1986 and assigned as the branch
manager of National Australia Bank in Taiwan in 1994. Later in
2001, Ms. Li joined as director of Private Wealth Management of
Deutsche Bank in Sydney and assigned to Hong Kong as director
of Investment Banking Division of Deutsche Bank AG in 2008. Ms.
Li left Deutsche Bank AG in 2010 and joined Nomura Securities,
Investment Banking Division as executive director. Ms. Li has been
the director of Credit Suisse, Hong Kong and China in the last 12
months. Ms. Li has over 16 years experience in corporate finance
and IPO with excellent relationship with senior government officials
in China, Australia, Taiwan, Cambodia and Burma.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Li did not hold any other position
in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did she hold any
directorship in any public listed company in the last three years.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) presents herewith
the annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2016 and
the state of affairs of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 161.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend in
respect of the reporting year (2015: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated results of
the Group for each of the five years ended 31 December 2016
prepared on the basis set out in the note below:
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BEBHBHNRE M ERAMEST

FERKRE

AEFHE-_E—ANF+_A=1+—RIEE%
BERAEERZB 2SR E R ECSE1618 2458
BYEHRE -

EETREREE DR EAAARE(-F 5
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MBERBE
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EEME

Foll

=
AN
=

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

—E-RE —T-0F —E—MmE —T-=F —T-C-F

HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000

THRT FET FET THET TEL

Revenue from continuing operations 7 & # & & 7% 2 LA 46,277 45,701 47474 47,066 41783
Loss before tax from continuing IR BB

operations BREAIEE 140,851 33,187 47,417 22,551 15,213

Loss from discontinued operations  JREC AR IHE L% 2 BB - - - 63,531 -

Loss after tax BERiRESR 140,851 33,187 47 417 86,082 15,213

Total assets BEDE 195,531 227,191 366,888 134,883 172,201

Total liabilities BfEHE 41,956 49,483 54,001 228,731 195,040
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements of property, plant and equipment are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options during
the year are set out in notes 25 and 33 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible notes during
the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 67 and note 26 to the consolidated
financial statement respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2016, the Company did not have any reserve
available for cash distribution (2015: Nil). In accordance with
the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles
of Association, the Company’s share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus
shares.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2016.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Group and the Company did not have any management
services contract for the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not have any charitable donations
(2015: HK$246,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

BLABEE
AL TR R BRI LB B BB A I A BB

RIBRE I REARBERLPIMBRBRREE
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EHANTERE
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FR - AKBEWLEEEEZRR(ZZ—RF : 246,000
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TEFEFRMAES

AEBZEREP RHEERFAMGHEE RKRBE
BT

2016 2015
—E—XE —T—REF
Revenue WA
— The largest customer - BREP n/a REH n/a “~E A
— Five largest customers - AREP n/a REHA n/a “~E A
Cost of goods sold HEEm
and services provided RR AR Z A
— The largest services provider — BEARRFGHER 21% 26%
— Five largest services providers — ARG HAER 50% 46%

Students are our major customers. It is therefore not applicable to
provide the largest and the five largest customers’ percentages on

our revenue income.
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None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers or
service providers noted above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Wei
Ms. Zhang Jianxin
Mr. Wang Weihua

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Qunsheng
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors the annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that
all independent non-executive directors are independent to the
Group in accordance with the terms of the guidelines as set out in
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Yuan Wei and Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Yuan Wei, the executive director, has entered into service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. This service
contract may be terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice to the other party.

Ms. Zhang Jianxin, the executive director, has entered into service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. This seivice
contract may be terminated by either parties giving not less than
three month’s notice to the other party.

Mr. Wang Weihua, the executive director has entered into service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. This service
contracts may be terminated by either parties giving not less than
three months notice to other party.

Mr. Li Qunsheng, the independent non-executive director, has
entered into service contract with the Company for a term of two
years. This service contract may be terminated by either parties
giving not less than three months’ notice to the other party.

Dr. Huang Chung Hsing, the independent non-executive director,
has entered into service contract with the Company for a term
of two years. This service contract may be terminated by either
parties giving not less than three months’ notice to the other party.

Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy, the independent non-executive director, has
not been appointed for a fixed term of service.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) when
the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors
is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees in the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees, including its Directors,
based on their performance, experience and prevailing market
rate. Other employee benefits include insurance and medical cover
as well as share option scheme. Details of share option scheme
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The determination of remuneration of the Directors of the
Company had taken into consideration of their expertise and job
specifications.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

A new share option scheme was approved and adopted in the
Annual General Meeting of the Company on 23 May 2011. On
15 December 2016, the Company granted 330,000,000 share
options (the “Options”) to individuals (the “Grantees”) under the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 23 May 2011. Details
of share option scheme are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), which were required
(a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred
therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions

EERFETHRAERROK
BREzERS

BABRARRREBREE(ERRERFRAE K
I R IG5 ) EXVER) Z Bn - BRI
EHERE T B (IR IR E 5 M B R DI EXVEE 7 &8
DEAE AR T NIRRTz s MR - HOIR
ﬁg‘“%&iﬁ%wﬂéﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ JARCER MR B RZ 5
PrETr c Ercflt s et SRR + RCRIFAIFRIR L
RRIES ABIRAME AR T&Hﬁ%XFﬁZ%ﬁﬁ& =yt
T

RZE—R"F+_A=+—H ARRESFKEETT
]

3g )

Number of shares or underlying shares held

RO RARER G HE

Percentage of

Name of Directors Ordinary Share issued share

and Chief Executive Capacity shares options Total capital

HERIT

ESRTETTBRAEHSA 514 AR MR et REBDLH

Yuan Wei (Director) Beneficial owner - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.91%
RE(ES) EnEBA

Zhang Jianxin (Director) Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.30%
REH(ES) EnlEBA

Wang Weihua (Director) Beneficial owner 168,224,000 33,000,000 201,224,000 6.09%
TREES) EnlEBA

Wang Hui (Chief Executive Officer) Beneficial owner 1,000,000 35,377,306 36,377,306 1.07%

FRGETHRAER) EmEAA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the
other Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest
or short position in shares, debentures or underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporations which was required (a)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred
therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests in shares and share options” above and
“Share option scheme” in note 33, at no time during the year was
the Group, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in the Group or any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER
THE SFO AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2016, so far as known to any Directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long position in shares or underlying shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder

BRREH

Capacity

54

RARXTRGHEBERED 2FR

Number of shares Percentage of

or underlying issued share
shares held capital

PR3 SRR R A
HE HEBRTREAEDLL

Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited (note 1)

(Bff

Liu Yang (note 2)

R (

Investment manager

1) REKE

FEE2) MREEEZ R
Atlantis Investment Management Investment manager
(Hong Kong) Limited (note 1) BRI
1)

(Bf

Atlantis Investment Management (Ireland)

Investment manager

Limited (note 1) (F¥3E1) S EAEIE

Riverwood Asset Management (Cayman)
. (note 2) (FffzF2)

Ltd

Notes:

34

Investment manager
B IR

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests notices filed by each of Ms.
Liu Yang and Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited, Atlantis Investment
Management (Hong Kong) Limited (“Atlantis (Hong Kong)”) and
Atlantis Investment Management (Ireland) Limited (“Atlantis (Ireland)”)
were disclosed as having interest in 393,080,000 shares and
210,000,000 shares of the Company respectively. Atlantis (Hong
Kong) and Atlantis (Ireland) are indirect wholly-owned and direct
wholly-owned by Ms. Liu Yang and Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited
respectively. Therefore, Ms. Liu Yang and Atlantis Capital Holdings
Limited are deemed to be interested in the shares held by Atlantis
(Hong Kong) and Atlantis (Ireland).

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests notices filed by Riverwood
Asset Management (Cayman) Ltd, Riverwood Asset Management
(Cayman) Ltd was disclosed as having interest in 196,048,000
shares of the Company and was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ms.
Liu Yang. Therefore, Ms. Liu Yang is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Riverwood Asset Management (Cayman) Ltd.
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Interest of a controlled corporation

GG

393,080,000 11.89%
393,080,000 11.89%
393,080,000 11.89%
210,000,000 6.35%
196,048,000 5.93%

1R ¥ 2 & % + KAtlantis Capital Holdings Limited
Atlantis Investment Management (Hong Kong)
Limited ([ Atlantis (Hong Kong) ) & Atlantis Investment
Management (Ireland) Limited([ Atlantis (Ireland)])
ZEFMRXEZEZRN 2RRENEAQA
393,080,000% £2210,000,000% % 17 7 #E 5 # &5 ©
Atlantis (Hong Kong) and Atlantis (Ireland)% 3!l F3 2 %
%24 K Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited@Z 2 & %A
LEEZEHE - BRI+ KAtantis Capitalifi 18 &
M Atlantis (Hong Kong) & Atlantis (Ireland)FiT#5 % 17
HEERE

1R #ERvewood Asset Management (Cayman) Ltd ~ Riverwood
Asset Management (Cayman) LtdFT 12 & f 25 % 52 @
A FFRERAANA F1196,048,0008% A1 R B 12 & A
Rzt 2 EBHEEWE AR Bt - 2IRZTWHRAR
Riverwood Asset Management (Cayman) Ltd. A&7
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year under review, neither the Directors nor the
substantial shareholders of the Company and their respective
associates had any interest in business that competes, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period are
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016 were
audited by McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited whose term of office
will expire upon the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-
appointment of McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

Yuan Wei
Executive Director

Hong Kong
30 March 2017

B EXFEEEN R-E—AF+=A=+—8"
EFUTNBEMEMA (AR AEFREBTH
A BB SN AR B R ARBIRA 0 7 (AR 1
BH DN VB E2 RS BT AT HER
BRARBES RS IS0 HER 2 B R
ST -

BRI 2R

REBFER AANESRIBRERRSEE
{580 N A A 1 B S T S B
F 2 E R -

BEMRER

RBERRBLEZEAFTHZABRIARGE Y HR
RMEES4 ©

BB

BE_T-R"E+-_A=T—RHLFEZREHEK
FEBSMESMARDAEZ  BENERERF
BERAE EER - SR EERFBAFAS LIR2ERE
R BEREEBEAMEBEMARARR/EABR
F 2RI

RREEE

HITEF

=E

BB
—E—+F=A=+H

—Z—XNE£$ - Annual Report 2016 35



Corporate Governance Report

EEERRE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance and believes that good corporate
governance can (i) enhance management effectiveness and
efficiency; (i) increase the transparency of the Company; (iii)
enhance risk management and internal control of the Company
and (iv) safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange which sets out the principles of good corporate
governance, the provisions of the Code (the “Code Provisions”)
and the recommended best practices, the Company has applied
the principles and complied with all the Code Provisions as set out
in the Code during the year ended 31 December 2016, with the
exception of deviation set out below.

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Following the step down of Mr. Chen
Hong from the office of chairman and an executive director of the
Company on 14 February 2014, the Company has not appointed
chairman, and the roles and functions of the chairman have been
performed by all the executive directors collectively.

Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election while
all directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. During the year, the non-executive director
and two independent non-executive directors are appointed for
a specific term of service and one independent non-executive
director is not appointed for a specific term of service. Since each
of the independent non-executive directors is subject to rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company, as such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to serve the
purpose of the Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code.
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Under Code Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and non-executive director should attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views shareholders. Dr.
Huang Chung Hsing, Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy and Mr. Li Qunsheng,
the non-executive directors of the Company were unable to
attend an annual general meeting of the Company held on 12 May
2017 due to their respective commitments elsewhere.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group has adopted a code
of conduct regarding securities transactions in securities of the
Company by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the
Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the required
standard as set out in the code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December
2016.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
MEETING

Board Composition

The Board of Directors currently comprises three executive
directors, namely Mr. Yuan Wei, Ms. Zhang Jianxin and Mr. Wang
Weihua and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr.
Li Qunsheng, Dr. Huang Chung Hsing, and Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy.
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group.
It focuses on directing the corporate strategies and supervising
the business, significant affairs and daily operation of the Group.
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 22 to 25
of this annual report.
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Following the step down of Mr. Chen Hong from the office of
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company on 14
February 2014, the Company has not appointed chairman, and
the roles and functions of the chairman have been performed by all
the executive directors collectively. The Board provide the Group
with strategic direction and ensure its effectiveness in a timely
manner. Whereas Ms. Wang Hui, the chief executive officer of the
Company, is responsible for the strategic planning of its various
business units, and day-to-day management of its operation.

Currently the Board of Directors comprises three executive
directors and the Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code is not
complied. But the Board believes that the Company already has a
strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure effective
oversight of management. The Board will continually review the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance structure to
assess whether any changes are necessary.

Under Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election
while all directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Currently the non-executive director and two independent non-
executive directors are appointed for a specific term of service
and one independent non-executive director is not appointed
for a specific term of service. Since each of the independent
non-executive directors is subject to rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, as such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of the
Code Provision A.4.1 of the Code.
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Board and General Meetings

The Board meets regularly. During the year ended 31 December
2016, there were 36 board meetings and 1 general meeting
held to discuss the overall strategy, the operation and financial
performance of the Group, and to approve important matters
such as the annual results, quarterly results, interim results and
dividends, the Group’s businesses and investments, etc. The
attendance of each director at the board meetings and general
meeting are set out as follows:

EEEERRRRAE

Exe T MR ﬁ@%°%@x‘%*ﬁ¢+*ﬁ
=t+—BHUEFE ARAGERITBREFTERH
IRICRA & AR i B B $EIZ%%&%%%
BAREMFRERE FEEGE THRELBRE
AEBZEBRREEFEREE - h— KR EFHIK
T EMARRREBIE SR N RAREIREL
RERZREFHRETTEREMERAG ZRH
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Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meeting General Meeting
EZgemliELE RERKE HERE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yuan Wei RIESRE

Mr. Yang Jilin BERTE
Ms. Zhang Jianxin SR+
Mr. Wang Wei Hua FRESE
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Li Xiangjun ES i

Independent Non-Executive Directors  BM E#HTES

Dr. Huang Chung Hsing mEEEL
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy TR
Mr. Li Qunsheng TR LA

The company secretary is responsible to take and keep minutes
of all board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

36/36 2/2
9/11 0/1
24/25 0/1
0/4 0/0
3/10 0/1
2/36 0/2
2/36 0/2
5/36 0/2
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The executive directors and senior management meet regularly to
review company business matters and escalate the matters to the
board meeting for further discussion if necessary. The Board and
the Directors can seek independent professional advice whenever
necessary at the Company’s expenses. Furthermore, they can
have access to the company secretary who is responsible for
ensuring that the Board procedures are duly complied with and
advising the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters.

In accordance to the Board’s current practice and Code Provision
A.1.7 of the Code, any material transaction involving a conflict
of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director will be
considered and dealt with by the Board by a duly convened
Board meeting. It also requires the directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their associates have
a material interest.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In Compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company now has three independent non-
executive directors representing half of the Board with one of them
having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. Currently it has complied
with the relevant Rules. Two independent non-executive directors
are appointed for a fixed term of service whereas one independent
non-executive director is not appointed for a fixed term of service.

The Company has, through the nomination committee of
the Board, reviewed the independence of, and received an
appointment and annual confirmation of independence from, each
of the independent non-executive directors, and considers all the
independent non-executive directors independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Delegation to Board Committee and
Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for business development,
leadership, management and control of the Group and is
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing,
supervising and monitoring the Group’s affairs. It has established
three committees, namely the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee. All of the committees have
written terms of reference in accordance with the Code. More
details of these committees are set out in separate sections of this
report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive directors and chief executive officer (“CEO”) to facilitate
the efficient day to day management of the Group’s business.
In addition, the Board delegates to the remuneration committee
authorities to determine remuneration for executive directors and
members of senior management.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
as Directors and of the business and activities of the Group.
Directors receive regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments to the Group’s business and to environments
in which the Group operates, as well as their responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors
participated in the continuous professional developments in
relation to regulatory updates, the duties and responsibilities of the
Directors and the business of the Group in the following manner:

BE_T—R"FT_A=T—BULFE BEFFEBNU
THR2EAMEESEZRFANL EFZRGHE
BERAEEEB I HEEEERED

Training received (Yes/No)
BEZEI(RB)

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Yuan Wei RIERE

Ms. Zhang Jianxin R L

Mr. Wang Weihua FRERE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFBTES
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing 0

Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy FHL L

Mr. Li Qunsheng TRERE

Training received included:

A attending internal/external briefing/seminar session in relation
to corporate governance; or

B reading materials in relation to regulatory update

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee on 26
November 2001 with written terms of reference for the purpose of
reviewing and supervising the Company’s financial reporting and
internal control procedures in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules. The committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Li Qunsheng (the chairman of the
committee), Dr. Huang Chung Hsing and Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy.
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The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and to
provide supervision over the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control system of the Group, to review
the audit plan, audit findings and independence of the auditors
of the Company, to review the Group’s financial information and
financial statements, annual reports, interim reports and quarterly
reports, and to provide advice and recommendation thereon to the
Board.

The Board also delegated certain corporate governance functions
to the audit committee, including the review and monitoring of
(@) the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the Board; (b) the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (c) the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) the code of conduct
of the Group applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) the
Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the audit committee
held 5 meetings to approve the nature and scope of the statutory
audits, and review the annual, interim, quarterly consolidated
financial statements of the Group, and details of the attendance of
each member of the committee are set out as follows:
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The minutes of the audit committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary. The draft and final versions of the minutes
are circulated to all committee members for their comments and
records within a reasonable time after each meeting.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the audit
committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

The Company’s annual audited results for the year ended 31
December 2016 have been reviewed by the audit committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established on 23 March 2005
with major functions of (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policies and structure for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management of the Group; (i) determining the
remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management
of the Group; and (iii) reviewing and approving the performance-
based remuneration. The remuneration committee’s terms of
reference are generally aligned with the requirement of Code
Provision B.1.2.

The remuneration committee of the Company is currently chaired
by Mr. Yuan Wei. Other members include Mr. Li Qunsheng and Ms.
Li Ya Ru Nancy. The majority of the members of the remuneration
committee are independent non-executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, one meetings of the
remuneration committee was held. All of the members of the
remuneration committee, at the time being, attended the meeting.
The Company’s policy for the remuneration of Directors and senior
management was discussed in the meeting and no changes on
the policy were recommended by the remuneration committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the nomination committee on 23
March 2012 with major functions of (i) to review the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (i) to identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; and (i) to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re- appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman of the Board and
the CEO.

The nomination committee of the Company is currently chaired
by Mr. Yuan Wei. Other members include Mr. Li Qunsheng and
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing. The majority of the members of the
nomination committee are independent non-executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, one meetings of the
nomination committee was held. Majority of the members of the
nomination committee, at the time being, attended the meeting to
perform the aforesaid functions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the audit service provided by the auditor of
the Group to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
was mutually agreed in view of the scope of services, amounting
to HK$600,000.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment and
maintenance of an adequate and effective internal control system
to safeguard the Group’ assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, and to protect the interests of shareholders of the
Company (collectively “internal controls”).

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has
conducted a review, which covered the major control procedures
in areas of financial and operations of the Company on the
internal control system of the Group and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control procedures.

BUSINESS ETHICS AND
PROFESSIONAL CODE OF CONDUCTS

The Group puts high standards on business ethics and
professional conducts expected of all employees. Employees are
briefed regularly on the code of ethics and on the conducts of
keeping confidentiality of the information of business partners and
the Group. Briefings on the code of ethics and on the conducts
are held for new employees during orientation sessions.

The Group also adopts good employment standards of non-
discrimination policy and fair compensation scheme.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The responsibilities of the Directors for preparing the financial
statements and the auditor’s reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements are set out in the auditor’s report contained in
this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Articles of Association, an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) may be convened by the
Board on a written requisition of any one or more shareholders
of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meeting of
the Company. The EGM shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM, the requisitionist(s)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) of the Company.

Enquiries put to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect
of their rights to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

There is no provision for shareholders to propose resolutions at
a general meeting under the Cayman Islands Companies Law.
However, shareholders can follow the above procedure and
request to convene an EGM.

Procedures for nominating a new director

(i) If a shareholder wish to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general
meeting, he/she shall deposit a notice at the Company’s
head office at Unit 2610, 26th Floor, Office Tower,
Convention Plaza, No. 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong (Attention to the Board of Directors and the company
secretary) or the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong;
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(i)  The notice must (i) include the personal information of the
Candidate as required by Rule 17.50 (2) of the GEM Listing
Rules; and (i) be signed by the shareholder concerned and
signed also by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness
to be elected and consent of publication of his/her personal
information;

(i)  Where the notice is submitted after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election,
the period for lodgment of the notice shall commence on the
day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
and no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting. In any case, the minimum length of the
period during which any notice to be given shall be at least
seven days;

(iv)  In order to allow the shareholders sufficient time to receive
and consider the proposal of election of the Candidate as
a director of the Company, shareholders are encouraged to
submit and lodge the notice as early as practicable.

Articles of Association

There was no change to the Articles of Association to the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2016.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels with
investors to update the latest business development and financial
performance including the publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports, the publish and posting of notices, announcements
and circulars on the GEM website and the Company’s website in a
timely manner in order to maintain a high level of transparency, and
to ensure there is no selective disclosure of inside information.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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The Company is pleased to present our first Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The report summarises our
performance in ESG during the year ended 31 December 2016.

SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL
EMISSIONS

The Group’s business operations do not involve in production
of air, water and land pollutions and hazardous waste. We have
implemented eco-friendly measures to reduce carbon footprint in
our business operations.

USE OF RESOURCES

Green and low-carbon is the only way of sustainable development
of our society. The Group has been committed to become a
resource-saving and environment-friendly enterprise to promote
environmental protection. We have been actively strengthened the
energy-saving in order to reduce emission, and adhered to reduce
energy consumption as a green data centre.

Electricity and Water Saving

Electricity and water saving notices are posted to remind our
employees to save energy.

Paper

The Group encourages our employees to work in a paperless
environment. To avoid unnecessary wastage and promote effective
usage of paper, our employees are encouraged to use emails
instead of hardcopies. If printing is still necessary, we encourage
double-sided printings and copying, or to collect and reuse single-
sided recycle printings and copying for internal documents.

Besides, envelopes and files are also reused by our employees.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group believes that corporate development should not
come at the expense of the environment. Therefore, we adopt
environmental friendly practices in various aspects. For example,
we adopt paperless working environment to reduce unnecessary
wastage.

SECTION B: SOCIAL
EMPLOYMENT

Our Group treats our staffs as the most valuable asset as they help
to develop our core values and cultures. Without their continued
commitment and contribution, we will not be able to operate or
serve our customers. It is therefore our top priority to make sure
that our employees work in a fair, safe, healthy and pleasant
working environment that facilitate their personal growth and
career development.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

We are dedicated to promoting equal opportunities for all of our
employees in different areas, such as recruitment, compensation
and benefits, training and staff promotion. We strongly believe that
each individual has his/her unique strengths that adds value to the
company and the society. We therefore have comprehensive equal
employment opportunities policies in place that protect potential
and existing employees from being discriminated because of
their backgrounds, gender, age, family status, sexual orientation,
disability, race or religion. All employees are assessed based
on their ability, performance and contribution to the company.
The employment contracts are strictly following the relevant
laws and regulations. During the reporting period, there was no
discriminatory act reported or complaint received in relation to
equal opportunity, transfer, promotion, recruitment, termination,
severance, holidays, benefits and training.
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HUMAN RIGHTS

Respecting human rights has been an integral part of our approach
to sustainability. We fully comply with labour laws or other relevant
legislations that prohibits child labour and forced labour. We do not
employ any person below the age of eighteen at our workplace.
Our employees’ resting time is flexible and well respected and
the employees enjoy paid holidays in accordance with the laws.
Overtime compensation hours and pays are in line with the local
laws and regulations. No employee is made to work against his/
her will or work as forced labour, or subject to corporal punishment
or coercion of any type related to work. During 2016, we did not
identify any breach in legislation related to these areas.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for our employees. The Group promise that it fully
complying with all the regulations regarding occupational health
and safety, providing an effective and safe working environment for
our employees. Under this mechanism and measures, no death or
permanent disability case was noted during 2016.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Government organizes regular training on occupational safety
and environmental awareness, and the Group encourages and
requires our employees to attend such training. Finally, the Group’s
internal policies provide that it is not allowed to detain personal
documents and wage of our employees, nor can it be violent or
engraved, such as deliberately causing difficulties, threats and
corporal punishment, and any person that should be taken to force
employees to work.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group believes in nurturing and developing top talents
regardless of race, gender, age, religious belief, pregnancy, marital
status, family status or disability. The Group has policies to ensure
all employees and job applicants enjoy equal opportunities and fair
treatment.
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Appeal Principles and Channels

The Group encourage the management to dialogue with our
employees through a variety of ways to collect staff voices, in
order to maintain a harmonious relationship with our employees.
All of our employees and management of the Group can use mullti-
communication channels for horizontal or vertical communication,
such as e-mail or interviews.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

To promote a good and ethical business culture, we have
established the Code of Conduct (“CoC”) for all employees. Our
CoC are in reference to the anti-corruption policy published by
Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”)
and to the Prevention of Bribery Ordiance (Cap. 201 of HKSAR
Law). Our employees are required to comply strictly with applicable
laws relating to the above acts.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
INTRODUCTION

The Group always remember the social responsibility during
the Group’s operation and development process, with actively
promoting the social development by Internet science and
technology innovation. In view of this, the Group participates
in various community charitable activities and encourage the
participation of employees.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations that has a significant impact on the Group relating
to emissions, employment, health and safety, labour standards,
product responsibility and anti-corruption during the reporting
period.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the shareholders of
China E-Learning Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
E-Learning Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 63 to 161 , which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters BREITSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FRETFER BRI ZEBMNZEHE  RAER
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the ARG EMBERERNET ZREENEE -ZEF1E

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These RN EA RSB HRE L AE R E
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EITRIBEN - AT e ZSEHEHERS
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 8o

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

No. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
iR, BREITEE AREMHETNAEERRETSEE
1 Impairment assessment on other receiveables

H A W AR TR (B R4

We have identified impairment assessment on other  Our procedures were designed as follows:

receivables as a key audit matter because of its

significance to the consolidated financial statements and e Review management’s assessment process;

the policy for making such impairment involves significant

degree of management judgment. ° Inquire and understand management’s basis for
recognizing such impairment loss;

In determining whether impairment on other receivables

is required, the Company takes into consideration the
current creditworthiness, the past collection history, age
status and likelihood of collection. Specific allowance is
only made for receivables that are unlikely to be collected
and is recognised on the difference between the
estimated future cash flow expected to receive of which
discounted by using the original effective interest rate
and its carrying value. For the year ended 31 December
2016, the Group recognized an impairment loss of
approximately HK$61,000,000 on other receivables.
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° Assess the reasonableness of such judgement by
taking into account the ageing of receivables at year
end and cash received after year end, as well as the
recent creditworthiness of each debtor.

We found the judgements and estimates made by

management in assessing the recoverable amount of

other receivables to be reasonable based on the evidence

obtained.

RAZBEDE R P RET T

e  EREEEMMGBE:

o BHRTHREEEMRZERERBBNELE

o BRI RFHEBEBUIRFRE RFABERNE IR
SUREGREBARCHESE  SHEZFH NS E
IH_:O

Az BLED B IR E IR FE AT b B A R R IR A0 AT W B 2 R A
H Y I R bR BN R BB A IR -



Key Audit Matters (Continued)

FRBETSE®

No. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Ry, BREITSEE AREMNETT N AEERRETEE
2 Share options

B

We have identified the measurement of the share
options as key audit matter because the measurement
of such share options involves significant management
judgement on the appropriateness of the assumptions
and bases.

ARBEE SRR B A A — B E BB
SEWAE B R BRRERNEY Y EAE
LI -

Our procedures were designed as follows:

understand and challenge the underlying assumptions
and bases;

seek professional advice on the use of assumptions
and bases;

evaluate professional’s competence and objectivity.

We found the judgements and estimates made by
management in assessing the carrying amount of share
options to be reasonable based on the evidence obtained.

AIZBENEIE RTINS -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT R

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

FRBETSE®

56

EFMNTEHAX

There are certain material amounts of administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 to be
determined whether they are relevant to the business
activities conducted by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2015. We have identified it as a key
audit matter because this is relevant and material to the
opening balance of the accumulated losses.

BE_T-AFT-_A=+t"HUEFETHRHEXET
EAYRRTEEREAE EEEHE_T—RF
T A=+ HIEFEETNEREEER - A2

RIS —IRREREFR  RERERFEBEIVIGEHRNA
BNBEK-
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No. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Ry, BREITSEE AREMNETT N AEERRETEE
3 Administrative expenses of prior year

Our procedures were designed as follows:

o Inquire management of the expense nature;

o Inspect the underlying supporting documents;

° Challenge management for the cause of incurring such
expenditure.

We found the opening balance of the accumulated losses
have been fairly stated based on the evidence obtained.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

No. Key Audit Matter
Ry, BREITSEE

FRBETSE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AREMNETT N AEERRETEE

4 Investment in marketable securities

REBERS

We were unable to access to any relevant documentation
on the proper authorization procedures related to
the management control mechanism on the Group’s
investment in marketable securities during the audit for
the year ended 31 December 2015. As a result, we have
identified the measurement of the opening balance of
investment in marketable as a key audit matter.

BE_T-RFT-_A=t—RLFEEZHH £
By BERBEREFREESFEIREHIHSIEEK
AR FF BVSEARRE ST - B - AAZBEDE
RERERSHNESRTEHD B BRARETFE

Our procedures were designed as follows:

° Inquire and understand management control
mechanism on investment in marketable securities

o Obtain and inspect relevant documentation involved in
the management control mechanism;

° Determine the opening balance of the investment
in marketable securities by taking into account of
bank statements and other relevant documents and
worksheets.

We found the opening balance of the investment in

marketable securities have been fairly stated based on the

evidence obtained

KZHEMNRFRETIAT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT R

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

FRBETSE®

No. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Ry, BREITSEE AREMNETT N AEERRETEE
5 Property, plant and equipment

58

W BERRE

We have identified property, plant and equipment
as a key audit matter because certain supporting
documentation for the movement for the year ended 31
December 2015 have not been obtained during the audit
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and thus affect
the opening balance of property, plant and equipment.

AZBENC W  BE LRERN A - BRRETE
B ABE-ZT-AF T _A=T—"RHIFEZEZHH
ETEAXHEREBEE-_S—RAFT-_A=+—HL*F
ERZHRE ARG AMEEYE - BELRENH
PIKEER ©
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Our procedures were designed as follows:

o Obtain understanding of why such documents were
not provided during the last audit;

o Obtain and inspect the underlying supporting
documents;

o Obtain calculation worksheet and recalculate
deprecation.

We found the opening balance of property plant and
equipment have been fairly stated based on the evidence
obtained
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other
Information. The Other Information comprises all the information
in the Group’s 2016 annual report (other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon) (“Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and
Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 3 % B R 5

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in 2 manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

18 3 % B R 5

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Seto Man Fai.

McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

SETO MAN FAI
Practising Certificate Number: P05229

Hong Kong
30 March 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other
Comprehensive Income

GEEERkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—R"E+-_A=+—HILFE

2016 2015
—E-XRF —E—hF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
B FET FET
Revenue Yz 7 46,277 45,701
Cost of goods sold and services provided  $5& & T R IRFS 2 B AR (26,540) (28,088)
Gross profit EF 19,737 17,613
Other income Hblzs 8 138 310
Administrative expenses THRX (42,955) (28,773)
Impairment losses on other receivables H A fE AR RORBE S 18 (60,887) -
Equity-settled share-based payment AR RESE S 2 DARR S 1P 508 (34,575) (16,537)
Other expenses Hihfx 9 (21,740) (6,170
Finance costs, net BhE KA )RR 10 (569) (630)
Loss before tax RRBEATE 1B 11 (140,851) (33,187)
Income tax Frig#it 13 - -
Loss for the year REEEE 11 (140,851) (33,187)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEGREESSE
Owners of the Company VN/NEIESYEUN (149,736) (41,875)
Non-controlling interests eI 8,885 8,688
(140,851) (83,187)
Loss per share SRER 15
- Basic —EOR (4.96 cents fil)  (1.36 cents {ll))
- Diluted —#E N/A ~ER N/A 73
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other

Comprehensive Income

GEEERkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—XR"F+-_A=+—HL=FE

2016 2015
—B-REF —E—RF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
B FET FAT
Loss for the year REEZER (140,851) (33,187)
Other comprehensive expense Hih2mE
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently E 14 i EFT 7 AE = 1825 9IHH -
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign & IBNEFEE £ 7 B H =58
operations
Exchange difference arising during the FREEZIERZR
year 311 (2,555)
Reclassification adjustments relating to BERNEEBINES BRI
foreign operations disposed during the ENHFEFAE
year - _
Other comprehensive expense, net of Hth 2 EBIX (FNBRATEH)
income tax 311 (2,555)
Total comprehensive expense AEEXERREE
for the year (140,540) (35,742)
Total comprehensive (expense) income IWTATRGEAFEZE(FX)
for the year attributable to: st 4B %E -
Owners of the Company ARFFHAA (149,425) (44,430)
Non-controlling interests FEFEPRRE RS 8,885 8,688
(140,540) (35,742)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Se BB R

As at 31 December 2016
RZE—R"F+ZA=+—H

2016 2015
—E-XRF —E—hF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BT FHExT T
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets FkREBEE
Goodwill [EES 16 - -
Property, plant and equipment VI BB MR 17 1,401 5,500
Investment in an associate WERENT] 18 50,000 -
51,401 5,500
Current assets REEE
Inventories R 19 - 37
Other receivables H i R BRFR 20 85,050 149,603
Financial assets at fair value through profit #iBIBRIZ A EY R S REE
or loss 21 7,952 7,990
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMREEEIER 22 51,128 64,061
144,130 221,691
Total assets EEHAE 195,531 227,191
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMBRR 23 32,560 49,483
Convertible notes AR EE 27 9,396 -
41,956 49,483
Total liabilities BEHE 41,956 49,483
Net current assets REEEFE 102,174 172,208
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERARBERS 153,575 177,708
Net assets EEFH 153,575 177,708
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Se BB R

As at 31 December 2016
RZE—R"F+ZA=+—H

2016 2015
—E-XRF —E—hF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
B FET FAT

Capital and reserves WA R #iE

Share capital i@ 25 330,498 294,510
Reserves s (183,219) (123,387)
Non-controlling interests FEFEEREES 6,296 6,585
Total equity MRS 153,575 177,708

The consolidated financial statement on pages 63 to 161 were EOE3EEF 161 ENGEMBWMEN T —+F=A

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 —THEESSHERKETIE YR TIESEKE
March 2017 and are signed on it behalf by: %#E
Yuan Wei Zhang Jianxin
=& REH
Director Director
FF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
BHE-_Z—R"F+-A=1+—HLTFE

Convertible
Share-based  Exchange notes  PRC staff Non
Share Share  payment fluctuation equity award fund Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HESI
DR%A EER® TgER  %BES
RE  REOEE il R EERE i Zithg i EEREE  ERAH
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS 000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$' 000
TiEn TiEn TR TiEn Tin TiEn TiEn Tin Tin TR
1 January 2015 W-5-n%-F-H 321,427 310,567 14,420 10,8% 6,144 4442 (361,359) 306,543 6,344 312,887
(Loss) profitfor the year TEE (B RN - - - - - - @875 (41,875) 8688 (33187)
Other comprehensive income REREMPANE
for the year - - - (2,559) - - - (2,555) - (2,555)
Total comprehensive expense TEERERTEE
forthe year . - - s - S 8T %) 8688 (3574
Dividends paid tonon-controling ~~ 3EiARER ST 7
interest ) - - - - - - - - (8.447) (8.447)
Issue of employes share option BESERE - - 16,587 - - - - 16,537 - 16,537
Issue of shares by exercised of share R IREETEMET
option i) 1,200 1229 #3) - - - - 2,016 - 2016
Redemption of convertible notes BETRRTE - - - - (6,144) - 6,144 - - -
Transfer to PRO steff award fund ~~ EZEHE 2 T#E)
resene EofE - - - - - 2,116 - 2,116 - 2,116
Share repurchased R (28,117) (83,542) - - - - - (11,659 - (111,659
At 31 December 2015 RZE-1%
+ZA=t-8 294,510 228,254 30,644 8,341 - 6,568 (397,084) 171,128 6,585 177,708
(Loss) proft for the year REE(BB)EN - - - - - - (149,736)  (149,736) 8885 (140,851)
Other comprehensive income REEEMEANE
for the year - - - 311 - - - 311 - 311
Total comprehensive income TEE2ENE(FR)
(expense) for the year ek - - - 311 - - (149,736)  (149,425) 8885  (140,540)
Dividends paid tonon-controling ~ [3ERRIER T2
interest RE - - - - - - - - (9,174 (0,174)
Issue of convertible notes aHREE - - - - 1,174 - - 1,174 - 1,174
Issue of employes share option BTEEERE - - 34,575 - - - - 34,575 - 34,575
Issue of shares by exercised of RERERTEMET
share option fip 16,940 38,541 (8,049) - - - - 47432 - 47432
Transfer to PRC staff award fund EEMEETRE
reserve HeRE - - - - - 2,400 - 2,400 - 2,400
Issue of new shares el 19,048 20,952 - - - - - 40,000 - 40,000
At 31 December 2016 RIE-R%E
+ZA=1+-H 330,498 287,747 57,070 8,652 1,174 8,958 (546,820) 147,279 6,296 153,575
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—RE+_A=+—ALFE

2016 2015
—B-REF —E—RF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
B FET FAT
Cash flow from operating activities REERELECHESRE
Loss before tax BREL A ES1E (140,851) (33,187)
Adjustments for: AN &8, 2 $9% -
Finance cost, net BhE X A5 569 630
Depreciation e 1,289 1,643
Interest income FLEMA (53) (74)
Equity-settled share-based payments LARR 4 2 AR SZ AT /1B 34,575 16,537
Net realised losses on financial assets at fair EiBEZFIE AT EFEZ 2 HE
value through profit or loss E2ERBEHE 10,203 4,122
Net unrealised losses REBEIEFE 8,149 802
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME BB KR ER
equipment 3,388 -
Dividend income A& B U A - (216)
PRC staff award fund R E THEES 2,400 2,116
Impairment loss on other receivables H A JE W AR RORE B 18 60,887 -
Operating cash flows before EEESEBAIKEEL
movements in working capital RERE (19,444) (7,627)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (M) 37 (13)
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables HhfEURERRUR L, (38 0) 3,666 (31,741)
Decrease in trade and other payables Z 5 REMEMRTIUR LD (26,923) (5,148)
Cash used in operations REEKFMARS (42,664) (44,529
Overseas taxes paid EAEINEIE - -
Net cash used in operating activities & EEHEFE (42,664) (44,529)
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2016 2015
—E-REF —ZE-hfF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
B FET FHTT
Cash flow from investing activities RETHELEZHESRE
Payment of property, plant and equipment  ZE¥3 « M= R RES 2 B (790) ©3)
Proceed from disposal of property, plant HEWE  BRE K& 2 TS 508
and equipment 200 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ~ B EiEBIBRIE AT ETEC S
through profit or loss mEE (26,448) (34,726)
Proceed from financial assets at fair value  #iBExRIE AT EFEZ2HE
through profit or loss EEZ FTSE0R 8,134 21,812
Dividend income from financial assets at fair #:B1EFRIZAFEFEZ S RE
value through profit or loss EZRBIA - 216
Interest received BEHAE 53 74
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest of [a]—[EIHTEB A A) 2 JEIEAREZR X
a subsidiary (NP3 (9,174) (8,447)
Deposit refund of establishment of anew MBI —E¥THB AR 2%
subsidiary in PRC BIRK - 54,500
Net cash (used in) generated from RETH (A FERESFEHE
investing activities (28,025) 33,336
Cash flow from financing activities MEITBHMEESRE
Share repurchased Pefn E 38 - (111,113)
Share repurchased expenses paid BN EERZ - (546)
Issue of convertible notes BT TR 10,000 _
Exercised of share option 1T RER 2 47,432 2,016
Net cash generated from (used in) METEME (TR ESFE
financing activities 57,432 (109,643)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRESEEEREZRLEE
equivalents (13,257) (120,836)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHzRERESEEER
beginning of the year 64,061 187,412
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ EXREH) > F/2 324 (2,515)
Cash and cash equivalentsattheend FRZRERRESEEEE
of the year 22 51,128 64,061
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—RE+_A=+—ALFE

70

GENERAL INFORMATION

China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands on 10 July 2001. The shares
of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the section of
“Corporate Information” in the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The

principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Investment Entities: Applying
the Consolidation

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Exception

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRSs

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 7

Amendments to
HKAS 12
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3.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HKFRSs (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2017.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of the above new
standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards will not result in a significant impact on the results
and financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial assets which have been measured at fair value, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2016. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. Al
inter-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstance indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(o) Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that
are not classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

When the most recently available financial statements of an
associate is different from the Group’s reporting date, the
Group may take advantage of the provision contained in
HKAS 28 whereby it is permitted to include the attributable
share of associate’s results based on the financial
statements drawn up to a noncoterminous period end
where the difference must be no greater than three months.
Adjustments shall be made for the effects of significant
transactions or events that occur between that date and the
date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investment in an associate, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associate is not individually tested for impairment.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit of
investments accounted for using equity method’ in the profit
or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Associates (Continued)

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Business combination and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combination and goodwiill
(Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of HKAS
39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is not
within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in accordance
with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquire
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combination and goodwiill
(Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell and
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place wither in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient date are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date
of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale
(Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of
control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary
after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in
an associate or joint venture, the investment or the portion
of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as
held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method in
relation to the portion that is classified as held for sale from
the time when the investment (or a portion of the investment)
is classified as held for sale. Any retained portion of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not
been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted
for using the equity method. The Group discontinues the
use of the equity method at the time of disposal when the
disposal results in the Group losing significant influence over
the associate or joint control over the joint venture.

After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for
any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in
accordance with HKAS 39 unless the retained interest
continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case
the Group uses the equity method (see the accounting policy
regarding investments in associates or joint ventures above).

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fiar value less costs to sell.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or supply of goods and services, or for administrative
purpose are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

The shorter of the lease
terms or 20%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and 20%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 20%
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)
Property, plant and equipment (Continuead)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than trade
and other receivables, inventories and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the profit or loss in the period in which
it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Financial asset
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group within the scope of HKAS 39
are classified as loans and receivables and available-for- sale
financial assets, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at
fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value
through profit or not, directly attributable transaction costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)
Financial asset (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and cash and cash equivalents.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in interest
income in the profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment
is recognised in the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial asset (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt securities. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category
are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time and which may be sold in response to needs
for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale assets valuation reserve until the assets is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss in other income, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss in
other operating expenses and removed from the available-
for-sale investment valuation reserve. Interest and dividends
earned are reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)
Financial asset (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near term
are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s
intent to do so significantly changes in the foreseeable future,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in
rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables
is permitted when the financial assets meet the definition
of loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and
ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to
maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is
permitted only when the entity has the ability and intent to
hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-
sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss
over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then
the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when (i) the rights to receive cash flows from
the asset have expired; or (i) the Group has transferred its
rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if,
and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”)
and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value,
less any impairment loss previously recognised in the profit
or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment
losses on these assets are not reversed.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in first-out basis and
comprises, comprises costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivates designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, in
case of loans and borrowing, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and financial derivative.

Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate method amortisation process.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Loans and borrowings (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
profit or loss.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain
the liability, conversion option and early redemption option
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, both the liability and early redemption
option components are measured at fair value. The
difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible notes and the fair value assigned to the liability
and early redemption option components respectively,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the loan notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible
notes equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The early redemption option is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

The equity component, representing the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the Company;,
will remain in convertible notes equity reserve until the
embedded conversion option is exercised (in which case
the balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be
transferred to share premium). Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in
convertible notes equity reserve will be released to retained
profits. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability, equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability component and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.

When the conversion price is reduced (except for an anti-
dilutive adjustment), the incremental consideration which
represents the value of additional shares to be converted
under the reduced conversion price is recognised in the profit
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to other reserve.
The amount of incremental consideration is transferred to
share premium at the time the conversion price is reduced.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LTD. - HE@KZAEEEERAT

FESEER®

TREEE
Higit B (&)
IR ()

& 2B 5 (EI]H%E%% 3 EIRA AR A AR
Z ) BRBNR MR BERERFEEHEAN - BEE
Hﬁﬂ\ﬁ?ﬁlﬁxﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁt():BﬁﬁAT?ﬁHQE%
BREREHEANI R ETEERERNDEE)-
R IR % HARE R B A B AR T(E - AR AT AR
ERERBEEAZIZETRBEAREBRN -
TﬁHxHH%EAZ&tEﬁ%ﬂZ |HARE 2 W S 1BT &
iNEi= kg

BRARITH ?ﬁﬂﬁmﬁZX%EXﬁE&ﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁ
Bz R PEEABENREESD B
FARRERE D 2 R %EX$§&)3€H5<%%M&°%%§
BEMOZRZKRARNIIA BB 2 REE
W WK AR R B 2 IR AR B RN BOE#
B o

R IRAR(E T P& (R #E AN - BB AN

(BMARIRBUEIRAR (B A5 5 1R 2 BB MR (D (BB )
PRIBRER - WARFEAR K - REEmS

BRI E TR ERERMRE -



4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions
are measured at the best estimate of consideration required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligations, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flow (where the effect is material).

FESEER®

HEREHMAE

8 58
s

T EEHRER  BUASEIR - Rl ER

TRBE-

HRESBABERKER-ERAZZ—HEA
BREE L THRZGRER SRBEEAEZ
R A I WIERT - LB BHAERTRIFEUH
ERREAEMERNAERE TaKREE
ZEBN RS NER

HEEMTH

11 35 B 7 A — TR AT 58 1 1T 2 #E ) R 4K 8
ERRLE BTARNFEEREARBER
BENMENERE ReREERSBRAER
T MEFERMBARKRAL2R -

i

]

EAKEFBAEEHMEERTEERAEHE
IR R ERITREE - BIMERREE - BRIAMED
RBERRBITRITEEMFRE 2 REMRE
AR WERBETEEZARETABEE-
W EIRETRTEE G AR 2R RERT
E REEHEAERRSRECRE(MFE
BER)e

—Z—XNE£$ - Annual Report 2016 97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—RE+_A=+—ALFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

98

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic

benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i

(i)

Tuition revenue from educational programs is
recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the
straight-line method, over the duration of the relevant
educational programs.

Revenue from sales of educational materials and
products is recognised when the products are
delivered and title has passed to customers.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(i)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in
the profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independent administered fund.

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payments are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision will be made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service payments as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
or paternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation scheme (“Scheme”) to remunerate its
employees.

For share options granted under the Scheme, the fair
value of the employees’ services rendered in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense immediately and credited to the share- based
payment reserve under equity. Where the employees
are required to meet vesting conditions before they
become entitled to the options, the Group recognises
the fair value of the options granted over the vesting
periods. At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. It recognises the
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, in
the profit or loss, and a corresponding adjustment to
the share-based payment reserve.

Upon exercise of the share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional
share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and
the excess of the exercise price over the nominal value
of the shares is recorded by the Company in the share
premium account. The equity amount is recognised in
the share- based payment reserve until the option is
exercised when it is transferred to the share premium
account. If the options lapse unexercised, the related
share-based payment reserve is transferred directly to
retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease
payments under finance leases, are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The finance costs of such leases are charged to the profit or
loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are

initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
finance costs in the profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
All differences are taken to the profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non- monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (i) has an interest
in the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled
or significantly influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or
indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking
into account their estimated residual value. The Company
assesses annually the residual value and the useful lives of
the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such differences from the
original estimates will affect the depreciation charges in the
year in which the estimates change.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the recoverability and age of
the trade and other receivables. Appropriate impairment for
estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in the profit
or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired.

In determining whether impairment on trade and other
receivables is required, the Company takes into consideration
the current creditworthiness, the past collection history, age
status and likelihood of collection. Specific allowance is only
made for receivables that are unlikely to be collected and is
recognised on the difference between the estimated future
cash flow expected to receive of which discounted by using
the original effective interest rate and its carrying value. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Company were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment may be required.

Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was calculated using
the Black-Scholes valuation model/Trinomial Option Pricing
Model which requires the management’s estimates and
assumptions on significant calculation inputs, including the
estimated life of share options granted, the volatility of share
price and expected dividend yield. Change in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATIONS

(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill needs impairment requires
an estimation of the value is use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flow is less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of goodwill is
nil (2015: Nil).

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Business segments

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order
to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its
performance.

The Group is currently having one continuing operating
segment on a single business in a single geographical
location, which is the provision of an internet platform for the
facilitation of education program in Chinese medicine and
other advisory and training programs in the PRC, and all
the assets are substantially located in the PRC. Accordingly,
there is only one single reportable segment of the Group
which is regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LTD. - HE@KZAEEEERAT
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6.

OPERATING SEGMENT 6. RETEER )
INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about a major customer FEEFEFZ2ER
No transactions with a single external customer amount to REEZ T RFN_T—RF+ZA=1+—
10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the years ended AILFE BMEEIINIRE 2R FBOEAE
31 December 2016 and 2015. B A10%3 A E o
REVENUE 7. WA
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the years is as REBRFRNZ ESEBOMMOT
follows:
2016 2015
—EB-XRE ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Tuition fee revenue HEREZWA 46,277 45,701
46,277 45,701
OTHER INCOME 8. HzgA
2016 2015
—E-XRE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest income FEHA 53 74
Dividend income on financial assets at fair value & :BEzIRATESE Y S TEE
through profit or loss Z BB - 216
Sundry income FETEIA 85 20
138 310
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9. OTHER EXPENSES 9. Hpx

2016 2015
—E-REF ZE—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FH&TT
Donations B - 246

Net realised losses on financial assets at fair ERERIE AT EEZeREE
value through profit or loss 2 BB EEFE 10,203 4,122

Net unrealised losses on financial assets at fair EiBEBHIEA T EFE2 2 EE
value through profit or loss ZABEEIEFE 8,149 802

Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREE 2 EE
equipment 3,388 -
21,740 5,170
10. FINANCE COSTS, NET 10. REE R A FEE

2016 2015
—E—XE —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&TT

Interest expenses on financial liabilities RESE AT E 2 SRIBECFIE
measured at amortised cost 53 569 630
569 630
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

1. RKEEEE

2016 2015
b AY: S —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss before tax has been arrived at after BRI ESIE E 0 2SI -
charging:
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)  EER AN (BIEEEE)
— Basic salaries and allowances —EXR %o RER 12,144 12,340
— Contributions to defined contribution plans ~ — E BT &I 2 3% 517 1,169
— Other —Hfth 827 -
— Equity-settled share-based payments — LARSAEAEE 2 LARS ST FE 22,167 7,433
Total staff costs B BRAK 35,655 20,942
Auditors remuneration: ZH A S
- Audit service —ZH IR 600 520
Legal and professional fee FEERBEEER 10,258 4,953
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4% - = M & EITE 1,289 1,643
Payments under operating lease for T AR FAEE A IE TR
land and buildings 1,982 1,749
Equity-settled share-based payments AR E 2 DARRSZ 3008 34,575 16,537
Impairment losses on other receivables Hib W ARRUREEE 60,887 -
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BHE-_Z—R"F+-A=1+—HLTFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEMS
EMOLUMENTS
a. Directors’ emoluments a. EEME
Salaries, Equity- Payments for
allowances  Retirement settled Performance termination of
and benefits scheme share-based related  service of
Fees inkind contributions  payments bonuses directors Total
Hé BER  BRIGHE RELEZ B ALES
e - BYNE # MREARE O EERA  RE2ER b
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHT FHL Fhr FHr FHr ThER FhR
For the year ended HE-E-~EtCA
31 December 2016 Z+-ALEE
Executive Directors HTEZR
Mr. Yuan Wei mERE 690 205 18 1,763 60 - 2,736
Mr. Yang Jiin (note i BE R (i) 400 - 9 - - - 409
Ms. Zhang Jianxin (note i) SRR ETZ L (M) 282 - - 881 - - 1,163
Mr. Wang Weihua (note i)~ £ A4 (M) 34 - - 5818 - - 5,852
Non-Executive Director ~ #3i175%
Mr. Li Xiangjun (note ZHE LA () 50 - - - - - 50
Independent Non- BUFHTES
Executive Directors
Dr.Huang ChungHsing ~ EREfEL 60 - - - - - 60
Ms. Li Ya Ru Nancy TR T 100 - - - - - 100
Mr. Li Qunsheng (noteil) 2 &bak 44 (Fif3Hi) 100 - - - - - 100
1,716 205 27 8,462 60 - 10,470
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

a.

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

12. EEREEME®

a. EEME#E

Salaries, Equity- Payments for
allowances  Retirement settled  Performance  termination of
and benefits scheme  share-based related service of
Fees inkind  contributions payments bonuses directors Total
e RMk  RUGHE NRELE R KIEES
e Evia 5 BEEFTE EEEA REBEZEF &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEr Fin FiBn THAL Fhr Tir TiBn
Fortheyearended31  EZ-E-TF+=A
December 2015 =t-HLEE
Executive Directors HTEZR
Mr. Yuan Wei RELE - 996 18 1,352 - - 2,366
Mr. Yang Jilin (note i BE R (i) - 2,162 18 1,352 - - 3,532
Non-Executive Director ~ ##i{7E2%
Mr. Li Xiangjun (note i FHE o (i) 100 300 - - - - 400
Independent Non- BUKHTES
Executive Directors
Dr.Huang ChungHsing ~ E=EEL 60 - - - - - 60
Ms. Li*Ya Ru Nancy £ 100 - - - - - 100
M. Li Qunsheng TRRGE 100 - - - - - 100
360 3,458 36 2,704 - - 6,568
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEM T
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

a. Directors’ emoluments (Continued) a. EEMe@

Notes: FaE -

() Mr. Li Xiangjun was resigned on 7 July 2016 () THELRER T —ARFLACHBHIT

(i) Mr. Yang Jilin was resigned on 13 July 2016. iy BEREERZZ—"EFtLtA+=HE
£

(i) Ms. Zhang Jianxin was appointed on 13 July 2016 (i) REFZTHRZ-ZZE—"EtA+=—HE
=T

(v)  Mr. Wang Weihua was appointed on 15 December vy TARERER-ZT-—XE+_A+HA

2016 EZT

The amounts of equity-settled share-based payments PARSRE 45 & 2 AR 2~ 5008 TH AR 15 B 75

were measured according to the Group’s accounting MR TFAFTE AN EB BB UKL TS

policies for share-based payment transactions as set FETBUORETE ©

out in note 4 to the financial statements.

None of the directors of the Company waived HE_ZE—FRENZE—FRF+A
or agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the =+ —HIEMEFE BIERAREEER
Company and no incentive payment for joining the FNEEREEMHARNAT LN 2B
Company to any director of the Company during the MEBIMAER AR LT EEFRIBT
two years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. KABEMES -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEM T

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

b. Five highest paid individuals b.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, two (2015: two) were directors of the
Company, whose remunerations are included in the
disclosures above. The remunerations of the remaining
three (2015: three) individuals were as follows:

TUBRSHEAL

AEEANGESFALTEEARFME
TE-RF MBIEE REZFHFH
REXHE XN THEHK=2(ZF -1
FZRIALZHMET ¢

2016 2015

—E-RF —E-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#Bx FH&TT

Salaries allowances and benefits in kind e R EEYH R 300 3,066
Retirement scheme contributions RRET IR - 18
Equity-settled share-based payments VARRIEAEE 2 LARR S <P 5008 8,890 3,718
9,190 6,802

Their remunerations were within the following band:

Number of individuals

N
2016 2015
—E-RE —EF—RHF
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ1,000,000/ 7T 0 0
HK$1,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 1,000,001 75 26,000,000/
JT 5 5
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A

13. INCOME TAX 13. 8%
During the year ended 31 December 2016, no Hong Kong BE_Z—XE+-_A=+—HIEE &R
profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not NEBWENESEES T ERBREN - HF
generate any taxable profits in Hong Kong (2015: Nil). BER BB EHMBE(ZZE—hF - M@)o
PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income tax BB A E) Jh1%25%( Z T — R F : 25%)H)
at 25% (2015: 25%). Taxation arising in other jurisdictions BRGNP DEMSH Bt e iERES
is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective ZRIBRSERDEER 2RI ERAAE -
jurisdictions.
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss AEENHMBREGAEGMEMPEKRTZERZ
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss MR RIE RS EBRNT ¢

and other comprehensive income as follows:

2016 2015

—B—REF —E-hfF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHER FHT

Loss before tax BRTIRIEE (140,851) (33,187)

Tax at respective applicable tax rates RAERERN AT 2 BIA (14,499) (5,291)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ~— TNRIFNFRFSZ 7 TG &

purposes 24,460 15,497

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes B8 ;AU A 2 B 16 57 2 (11,569) (11,425)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIBEIE 2 BT E 1,608 1,219

Income tax for the year REFZRFTEHR - -
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14.

15.

16.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2016, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period (2015: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$149,736,000 (2015: HK$41,875,000),
and based on the weighted average number of shares
in issue during the year of approximately 3,020,884,000
ordinary shares, as adjusted to reflect the exercise of share
options (2015: 3,072,867,000 ordinary shares, as adjusted
to reflect the shares by exercise of share options and share
repurchased) during the year.

14. IR 2.

BE_Z—RF+_A=+t—HILFEIHEK
SR AR B, FASRAE HA R 18 JRdm s
EERRE(ZE—REF : &)

BREBE

EREAEBEENREAFEARAFAEA
FE (5 85 18 #9149,736,000/8 7T — & — R & ¢
41,875,000/ 70 ) + A SR & 8 DA R B F 7T
BERRAE M B 1T AR (D 2 N B BT RR (D I 15
% B %93,020,884,0008 L@k ( —F — A F :

3,072,867,0000% &A% - A& F & A R ML A TE
BRI O ) E -

15.

GOODWILL 16. &
HK$'000
FAT
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 and WZZE—hF-—HA—HB ZZT—1F
31 December 2016 TZA=+—BARZZE—RFE+A
=+—H 679,104
Accumulated impairment losses PR EEE
As at 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 and R—E—RF—A—H8 —Z2—1F
31 December 2016 TZA=+—RARZE—X"F+=A
=+—H (679,104)
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December 2016 RZZB—RF+-_HA=+—H -

At 31 December 2015

R-_Z-—AF+_H=1—H
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

118

Notes:

Goodwill arose on acquisition of subsidiaries New Beida
Business Study Net Group Limited is HK$647,598,000 on 27
February 2008.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of subsidiaries, IIN Medical (BVI)
Group Limited (“IIN Medical (BVI)”) and its subsidiaries on 23
April 2009.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of non-controlling interests
of Hunan IIN Medical Network Technology Development
Company Limited, a subsidiary of IIN Medical (BVI), in May
2009.

Goodwill arose on acquisition of i and iii is HK$31,506,000.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Acquisition of New Beida Business Study
Net Group Limited (“New Beida”)

As at the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group
had performed an impairment testing of goodwill
arose on acquisition of New Beida with reference to a
valuation carried out by LCH (Asia — Pacific) Surveyors
Limited (“LCH”), an independent qualified valuer. As
New Beida sustained a negative cash flow for the
year ended 31 December 2009 and such position
was expected to continue in the foreseeable future,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion that
the income approach was inappropriate to reflect the
value of New Beida as at 31 December 2009. The
asset-based approach had been adopted for the
valuation for the year ended 31 December 2009, as
opposed to the valuation carried out by LCH for the
year ended 31 December 2008 where the income
approach was adopted. Based on the business
valuation, the Group had recognised an impairment
loss of HK$326,115,000 in relation to goodwill arose
on acquisition of New Beida for the year ended 31
December 2009 (2008: HK$321,483,000). As a
result, the goodwill arose on acquisition of New Beida
was identified to be fully impaired.
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

ii.

Acaquisition of IIN Medical (BVI)

As at the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
has performed an impairment testing of goodwill arose
on acquisition of [IN Medical (BVI) with reference to
a valuation carried out by Grant Sherman Appraisal
Limited, based on cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets for the next five years
with a discount rate of 17.83%. The directors of the
Company were of the opinion, based on the business
valuation, that there the Group had recognised an
impairment loss of HK$31,506,000 in relation to
goodwill arose from the acquisition of [IN Medical (BVI)
as at 31 December 2010. As a result, the goodwill of
HK$31,506,000 on acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI) was
identified to be fully impaired.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been
determined on the basis of value-in-use calculation.
The key factors for the value-in-use calculation are
discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in
revenue and direct costs. Capital Asset Pricing Model
has been adopted to estimate the discount rate by
using market data of other companies with business
similar to IIN Medical (BVI). The growth rate is based
on the historical Consumer Price Index of the PRC.
Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on past
performance of IIN Medical (BVI) and management’s
expectation of the market development.

16. &%)
BHERERRE)

ii.

W ig B a7, B8 22 (BVI)

HE-_T-TF+_A=+—HILFE"
AEBE2RPBFEBARATEDL 2@
B st EWEENE BV MEE 2 HE
BITRERR - BRAEEDRBE SR
RAFHBTEE (REIRF17.83%) M#ETT
ZHEeMEEANET ARBEERAE
RIRZEBHE  AEBEHR T —F
F+_A=Zt+—AREKRETNEEBY)
M EE A 2 7 B FE 7R R (B E5 831,506,000
PETT o Ft - UL EE B AN B BE(BVI) T E A
2 79231,506,000/8 L E R A E 2 EUR
B

BEZARESHECREREETEE
EEE -ERABEMNEZTERZR NS
NREBERAZBRER BREENBHE
B ERNEETBERACERM  AFA
HEABEAEBVIRERUEB < EB A
BlZ TSI IRE - BRERTIER
FEZEBEHEMERSGE - R hE
BERARZ 28 HRIEENEEBV)2 B
EXRRLEEBHMERRZIREME
Ho
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 17. 9% - BMERZE
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements  equipment vehicles Total
HH-HER
HEMERE BLERE AE #t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAERT FHERT FHERT TERT
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2015 RZZE—hF—H—H 998 14,535 7,424 22,957
Additions NE - 93 - 93
Exchange realignment &R A% - 651) (63) (714)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF+=A
=+—H 998 13,977 7,361 22,336
Additions NE - 93 696 789
Disposal mE - (36) (5,952) (5,988)
Exchange realignment IE 5 FE - (291) (27) (318)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—R"F+=A
=+—H 998 13,743 2,078 16,819
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

17. % - BERZRE®

EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements  equipment vehicles Total
HM-RER
HEMEHE PLERE AE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THET THET FHERT
Accumulated depreciation and ZETERRE
impairment
At 1 January 2015 n-Z—hF—HA—H 998 14,013 856 15,867
Charge for the year FREHE - 203 1,440 1,643
Exchange realignment 0 R - (641) (33) (674)
At 31 December 2015 R=Z-RF+=A
=t+—H 998 13,575 2,263 16,836
Charge for the year FNEHR - 128 1,161 1,289
Disposal mE - (20) (2,381) (2,401)
Exchange realignment T 5, A= - (284) (22) (306)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+=A
=+—H 998 13,399 1,021 15,418
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 December 2016 RZZ—RE+_A
=+—H - 344 1,057 1,401
At 31 December 2015 R_E—RF+=A
=+—H - 402 5,098 5,500
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

18. R—BEBME QAR ZRE

2016 2015

—EB-XRE ZE—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHxT FHTT

At 1 January ®n—H—H - -
Addition b2yl 50,000 -
Share of loss DEEE - -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8” 50,000 -

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2016

RZZE—RF+ZA=Z+—BAEEZHERD

are as follows: BIEEAAR
% of

Place of business/country ownership Measurement
Name of entity ofincorporation Principal activities interest method
TEEE TEE MR I FRER ERESL SERE
Shares held indirectly:
B A 2 s
Business Harbour INC. BV, limited liabillity by Compilation and production 45% Equity
HAERAR share company of the content of online ek

HEETHS eduction courses and

BRinBRAR related business.

Set out below are the summarised financial information of an
associate which is accounted for using quity method.
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

1BR—BEHELQRA ZRER

BREEERER

Summarised balance sheet

2016 2015
=i —T-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Current

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets (excluding cash and cash
equivalents)

E

Re MReEEERR

nPEE(TEREREMREEFE
HE)

Total current assets BRENEE -
Current liabilities mEBE -
Non-current FERE

Assets BE -
Net assets FEE -
Revenue Wz -
Depreciation e -
Expenses st -
Loss for the year FEHE -

Other comprehensive loss

Hibir A EE

Total loss for the year REFEEE -
There were no commitment and contingent liabilities relating RZE—RF+-_A=+—8 AEBRKR—H
to the Group’s interests in an assocsate as at 31 December AENEIREWEAENSAREE-

2016.
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18.

19

124

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

Summarised balance sheet (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, management has conducted an
impairment assessment by taking into account, among other
things, (i) the business valuation of the associate performed
by an independent professional valuer; (i) the Profit
Guarantee in respect of the associated (details of which are
set out in the paragraph headed “Profit Guarantee” of the
announcement dated 30 August 2016); and (jii) the future
prospects of the associate. Based on the results of the
assessment, the Company concluded no impairment was

1BR—BEHELQRA ZRER

REEEEER®

REZE—RFE+-A=+—H0 EEEDET
WA T R(ERBE)()E L EXGERM
HEITHE S AR EE ()8 B e QR F
BRE(EFBEDZENRABAE-ZE—XRFNA
= THZAEFIBERE] —B&) Rz R
AIARRATR - BIBFHEER AR FS L AR
EHERRE -

recognized.

INVENTORY 19. 7 &
2016 2015
—B-RE —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT T
Cost DN 131 184
Less: impairment losses B REBE (131) (147)
- 37

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LTD. - HE@KZAEEEERAT



20. OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. Lt UK BRFX

2016 2015

—E-RE —T-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Deposits and other receivables e RE M EWGRIA 145,225 159,742
Prepayments TER A 11,166 1,961

Less: impairment losses B OREBE (71,341) (12,100)
85,050 149,603

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s other
receivables were individually determined to be impaired.
The individually impaired receivables are recognised based
on the credit history of debtors, such as financial difficulties
or default in payments, and current market conditions. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, management
has assessed the recoverability of other receivables by
reference to the subsequent settlement and ageing, current
market conditions. Before the date of the approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the management is
seeking for various ways of recovering and/or utilizing those
other receivables for the best interest of the Company,
including but not limited to any subsequent disposal
in consideration of other assets for the Company. The
Company has assessed the possible impairment of any
such receivables and an impairment loss of approximately
HK$60,887,000 is provided in the assessment process
for the year ended 31 December 2016 taking into account
market conditions, subsequent settlement among other
things.

RERER - NEE 2 M EURF T E R
BERETERIE - ERIEE 2 EEFKEATIR
BEBAZEELH (WY BR BB RFIE)
RIBITHORIER - AREY BRZFEBTE
(EROE LN

HE-_ZT—XR"F+-A=+—AILFE &2
JE 6 Hofh FE UK AR 32 TR B Mg 1T AT - w2
EZHEFEE LR - BRITTR c RLELR S BT
HEAY EEEBEESRSBARNKE R,
RBAZEHMBEUEIR - A EAR B ES &
M BREETRREELERAREME
EZRE - AREE A 5% 5 U BR AT
EREEZHERE YREBE-_T— X~ F+=
A=+—HILFEZIHREFFREREBEEE
#160,887,0008 7T E R EE(HFRBE) TS
BN BEREE SN -
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. H b FEURBR =R (4
The movement for provision of impairment of other EREHEMENIERERE 2

receivables is as follows:

g

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
At 1 January ®—H—H 12,100 12,672
Impaired RE 60,887 -
Exchange realignment M 5 B (1,646) (572)
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 71,341 12,100
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 21. EBBERBAFEHFAEZEH
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR BE
LOSS
2016 2015
—B-RF S
Listed securities FES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong — BB LEMRRAES 7,952 7,990
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

23

2. BERBFELEEIEH

2016 2015

—EB-XRE ZE—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Bank balances IRITRES 51,121 64,046

Cash balances RS 7 15
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated 44 &RERMIS K&

statement of cash flow ReEMEER 51,128 64,061

Cash and cash equivalents of appr oximately
HK$12,614,000 (2015: HK$17,154,000) for the Group are
denominated in Renminbi, which is not a freely convertible
currency and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is
subject to the exchange control imposed by the PRC

government.

Deposits with banks are interest bearing at the prevailing

market rates.

AEEZRE MRS EEIEE £12,614,0008
TT(ZZT—FRF : 17,154,000/ 70) JTH A A R #E
TME MAREWIEE B EBREE - [ BN

BEE SRS B BT HO I NEE B R R o

RITERIRRITH SRS

=+

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B S R B ETERER
2016 2015
—E—XF —T—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
Trade payables & FEMNRRK 543 1,801
Other payables Hib RS IR 14,040 29,744
Receipt in advance TEWFRIA 16,042 15,454
Accrued charges fEETE A 1,935 2,484
32,560 49,483

Included in other payables is contingent consideration
payable of HK$10,000,000 for the acquisition of 45% equity
interest of the associate.

ST AH A FE S AR A BB 2 A Fl45% 0%
TR B (E10,000,000/8 7T ©

—Z—XNE£$ - Annual Report 2016 127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—RE+_A=+—ALFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
reporting period is as follows:

23. E 5 R H B RRR

BIRNEFIRNRERRZFEINAT

2016 2015

—E-RF —T—h%F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Within 30 days 30HMA 468 1,774
31 to 60 days 31H60ZEHME - -
61 to 90 days 61H90EH - -
Over 90 days B0 H 75 27
543 1,801

The average credit period on cost of goods sold and
services provided is 1-3 months. The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are
paid within the credit timeframe.

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting date, the Group had estimated
the unused tax losses of approximately HK$59,629,000
(2015: HK$60,565,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The Group has tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of approximately HK$15,837,000 (2015:
HK$15,837,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in the PRC of
approximately HK$43,792,000 (2015: HK$44,728,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits.
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HEEmNMERRE KA ZFHEER/
Z23fAA - AEE D BRI ERAREZRE A
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24, EIERIE

RERE B BT AR NEEGEE AT RESHEER
o K 2 R B B 7 1B 85 18 49 459,629,000/
TT(ZZF— AR F : 60,565,000/ 7T ) FF 7 BE
TERI R 20 A1 2O - B B2 S B IR RIE
ERIEEE AKEREBEECHIEEED
15,837,000/ 7L( — & — A 4 : 15,837,000/
JT)+ Al AR PR B SH EE AR IS 1R 2 R A 2 R R E
AR F o

A& E AR R E £ 2 FUIEE1E £943,792,000/%8
T(ZE—FR% : 44,728,000/ T) Al —&E R
F B ER IR SR ER TR F)



25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. [ 7
The Group and the Company AEERAANT
Number of
shares  Share capital
BEE [N
Notes HK$’000
Po5E FET
Authorised: SERE
At 1 January 2015, 31 December 2015 RZZE—HFE—F—H =&
and 31 December 2016 —hAF+ZA=+T—HE=
E—RF+-A=1+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREEONE T T B 50,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BITREE :
At 1 January 2015 RZE—HF—HA—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each HAREE0.5E T2 Eimhk 3,214,271,196 321,427
Issue of shares by exercised of of share  E{T{EEEARE M BT TAR D
options share options a 12,000,000 1,200
Share repurchased and cancelled B B8 M iE 2 B b (281,168,000) (28,117)
At 31 December 2015 R-E—HF+=-A=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each SREEIBTZEER 2,945,103,196 294,510
Issue of shares by exercised of share EI TR M 21 TR (D
options 169,400,000 16,940
Issue of shares BT 190,476,190 19,048
At 31 December 2016 RZEB—XRFE+=-A=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BRAEAEIABITZEER 3,304,979,386 330,498
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@

During the year ended 31 December 2016, 169,400,000
share options were exercised by holder to subscribe for
169,400,000 shares. Details of the share options during the
year are set out in note 33.

(b) During the year, the Company issed 190,476,190 shares for
acquiring 45% interest on Business Harbour Inc..

130

(@) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 67 of the annual report.
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25. JR7A (#)
P2 -
@ REBEZE_ZT-—R"F+_A=+T—HIL*F
& # 8 A 171$169,400,00017 B A% 4 32 B
169,400,000/ A% 17 © 4F ) 8 A% 42 7 15 &k 70 P
33

(b)  FR-ARREEIT190,476,19008 5 - AUk EE
BEBRARLS %R -

26. F#iE
(a) &~&£HE
REENUAFEREE EHEZEEN

HEPNFRECTAZGAEREHRK
eV



26. RESERVES (continued)

(b) The Company

26. {#E @

(b) AR

Share-based Convertible

Share payment note equity  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
TRREE
BROGE  ARXARE ERfE ZHER &t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fizE TiBn T FiEx Tin THL
At1 January 2015 R-Z-R%E
—-A—8 310,567 14,420 6,144 (264,425) 66,706
Total comprehensive loss AEEEAEE
for the year k] - - - (39,539) (39,535
Issue of employee Share option  1T{E S BBk E 33 - 16,537 - - 16,537
Issue of shares by exercised of R {T{FHARE
share option mEiki 33 1,229 (413) - - 816
Redemption of convertible notes % [E| AR 212 27 - - (6,144) 6,144 -
Share repurchased R EE (83,542) - - - (83,542)
At 31 December 2015 and R-Z-R%E
1 January 2016 +ZA=t-H
RZE—RF
—A—H 228,254 30,644 - (297,816) (39,018
Total comprehensive loss AEEREER
for the year ik - - - (91,193) (91,193)
Issue of convertible notes BITARRE 27 - - 1,174 - 1,174
Issue of share option BTRRE 33 - 34,575 - - 34,575
Issue of shares by exercised of R {T{FHARE
share option &R 3 38,541 (8,049) - - 30,492
Issue of new shares BTHRG 20,952 - - - 20,952
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—RE
+-A=1+-8 287,747 57,070 1,174 (389,009) 43,018)
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26. RESERVES (continued)

132

(b) The Company (Continued)

The capital reserve of the Group represents the excess
of the nominal value of the share capital and the share
premium account of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the Group reorganisation over the nominal value of
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange
therefore.

Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association,
the share premium of the Company is distributable to
the shareholders provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. At 31 December 2016, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Company did not have
any reserve available for distribution to shareholders
(2015: Nil).

The share-based payment reserve comprises the
fair value of share options granted which are yet to
be exercised, as further explained in the accounting
policy for share-based payment transactions in note
33 to the financial statements. The amount will either
be transferred to the share premium account when
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
accumulate losses should the related options expire or
be forfeited.
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AEBENREEREEEEANIE 2 KB
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BITZRAHEZER
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The movement of the convertible notes for the year is set out

below:

27. AR EE

AREEERFAN

BEN T

Financial
Liability Equity derivative-
component component liability Total
SRHTE
=N EESs IAE-8F e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TExT FAET FAET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2015 R -Z—HF—HF—H
Z RHEE 9,382 6,144 8 15,534
Redemption of notes FEEE=t: (10,012 (6,144) ®) (16,164)
Effective interest expense ERFEMRAY 630 - - 630
Carrying amount RZE—RF+=A
at 31 December 2015 —+—HZERAE - - - -
Issuance of new notes BRI 8,827 1,174 - 10,001
Effective interest expense ERFEMRAY 569 - - 569
Carrying amount RZE—RE+=A
at 31 December 2016 =+—HBZKEE 9,396 1,174 - 10,570
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

2011 D Convertible notes

On 14 September 2011, the Company issued 3% coupon
convertible notes (the “CN 2011 D”), the principal terms of
the CN 2011 D are as follows:

Date of issue 14 September 2011

Aggregate principal amount  HK$22,500,000

Interest rate 3%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 12 months from the date of
issue

On 6 March 2014, the Company has redeemed one of
the Convertible Notes 2011 D with the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 in accordance with notice from the holder.
The Company is contacting the holder of the Convertible
Notes 2011 D with the principal amount of HK$2,800,000
in order to settle the convertible notes. As at 31 December
2016, the Company has not received any reply or notice
from the holder and the Company has the funds available
for redemption. Therefore the Company has accrued such
amount of HK$2,800,000 together with its interest accrued
at the year ended 31 December 2016.

2012 EICN Convertible notes

On 20 December 2012, the Company issued 1% coupon
convertible notes (the “EICN”), the principal terms of the
EICN are as follows:

Date of issue 20 December 2012

Aggregate principal amount HK$58,235,956

Interest rate 1%

Conversion price HK$0.50

Maturity date 36 months from the date of
issue
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—ZE——FEaRRELED

RZFE——FNAATHEE ARRETER
RN MR RE(I T ——FAARER
D)) —F——F A RIRFEEDN T BN T

ITHER —ZE——&%hA+WA
PINE 22,500,0005 7T
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HARE 0.50% 7T

/e = BE/THER12(E A

R-ZZE—NE=ZAXB ARFRBREFHFAA
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

2012 EICN Convertible notes (Continued)

On 15 August 2014 (after trading hours), the Company
and the note holders of EICN entered into the Deeds of
Amendment, pursuant to which the Company and the
note holders of EICN agreed to amend certain terms and
conditions of EICN. Pursuant to the Deeds of Amendment, (i)
the conversion price of EICN will be reduced from HK$0.50
per Share to HK$0.35 per share; and (i) the interest rate of
EICN will be reduced from 1% per annum to zero. Save as
amended pursuant to the Deeds of Amendment, all other
terms of EICN shall remain unchanged and valid.

On 15 October 2014, the resolution in relation to the
proposed amendment to the terms and conditions of EICN
was duly passed by the independent shareholders by way of
poll at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting.

On 27 October 2014, the Amendment of Terms has become
effective. The updated terms of EICN are as follow:

20 December 2012
Aggregate principal amount HK$58,235,956
Aggregate principal amount  HK$58,235,956

as at 27 October 2014

Date of issue

Interest rate 0%

Adjusted conversion price  HK$0.35

36 months from the date of
issue

Maturity date

The incremental consideration resulted form adjustment
to conversion price amounting to HK$26,456,000 have
been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2014.

27. WA ERE @)

- FARREB KRR AT
S A

RZZE—MENATHEB(XSEEE) AR
A Bk LB R PTIR RIB AR IS B AR M (8E]
T BRIt AR R ROK SRR AT R E R R R
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RAFHEITIEET « ARIBIEFT IR - ()KL EPR AT
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%ﬁ'&@ﬁmlWTﬁ%%#ﬂ%miimb
BRET - RIRBISETIBRFTIEZ IS RTUASN - Sk 8
BIRR AR IR R IR T A B R F IR T E R E
e

RT—mE+A+ER  RHEETAEER
TRIRER 2 R R R RS R D
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HIERBIA -

RZZE—WF+AZ+EB BEREE
B o K BABU PR TR A 2 AC T BTSN T ¢

BHITHH —E——#+=-A=+H
PG N L 58,235,956/ 7T
RZZT—M4F 58,235,956 7T
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—Z—XNE£$ - Annual Report 2016 135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE-_Z—RE+_A=+—ALFE

27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

136

2012 EICN Convertible notes (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Conversion period

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of the
note in an amount of not less than HK$500,000
on each conversion (save that if an at time, the
principal outstanding amount of the note is less than
HK$500,000, the whole (but not part only) of the
principal outstanding amount of the notes may be
converted) into shares in board lot or multiples thereof
at any time from the issue date at the initial conversion
price of HK$0.35 per share up to (and excluding) the
fifth business day immediately before the maturity
date.

Issuer early redemption option

The Company may at its sole and absolute discretion
redeem the Notes (or any part thereof) at its principal
amount outstanding together with interest at any time
and from time to time on or before the notes maturity
date.

Valuation of liability component

The fair value of EICN as at 20 December 2012
amounted to HK$48,872,000. The fair value is
calculated using binomial tree models at a rate based
on the discount rate of 7.79%.

The noteholders converted EICN in the principal amount
of HK$35,000,000 on 30 October 2014. The noteholder
converted EICN in the principal amount of HK$13,235,956

on

16 December 2014. EICN in the principal amount of

HK$10,000,000 was matured on 20 December 2015.
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

CN2018 Convertible notes

On 13 January 2016, the Company issued zero coupon

convertible notes (the “CN2018”), the principal terms of the
CN2018 are as follows:

Date of issue 13 January 2016
Aggregate principal amount  HK$10,000,000
Interest rate -

Conversion price HK$0.35

Maturity date

(a)

(b)

24 months from the date of
issue

Conversion period

The noteholder shall have the right to convert the
whole or any part of the outstanding principal of the
note in an amount of not less than HK$500,000
on each conversion (save that if an at time, the
principal outstanding amount of the note is less than
HK$500,000, the whole (but not part only) of the
principal outstanding amount of the notes may be
converted) into shares in board lot or multiples thereof
at any time from the issue date at the initial conversion
price of HK$0.35 per share up to (and excluding) the
fifth business day immediately before the maturity
date.

Issuer early redemption option

The Company may at its sole and absolute discretion
redeem the notes (or any part thereof) at its principal
amount outstanding together with interest at any time
and from time to time on or before the notes maturity
date.

27. WA ERE @)
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

28.

138

CN2018A Convertible notes (Continued)

(c)

Valuation of liability component

The fair value of CN2018 as at 13 January 2016
amounted to HK$9,739,776. The fair value is
calculated using binomial tree models at a rate based
on the discount rate of 9.54%.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting date, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office

premises and other asset, which fall due as follows:

27. WA ERE @)
TE-NEUBRRERE#E)
(c) EBEBI=EE

TE-N\FUBEREBER T —RF—
A+=ZB®ARAFEAET739,776/E T A
TR THE A = XA R A $720.54% /9 BE IR 2R

.
Al °

RSN AR

K& AHTER AEERRAEYERE
B EZ N AL EMOAE 2 RRRKEHE
EFAZMBERMAT ¢

28

2016 2015

—E-XF —E—hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHEx T

Within one year —FRN 4,302 2,228
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERF(BREERMSE) 1,296 -
5,598 2,228

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for terms of 1 to MAE—22—F(_E—RF: —F_-_F)7

2 years (2015: 1 to 2 years).
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 29. AREE

The Group did not have materially contingent liabilities at the RMERR AEEREREEEAIAREAE(Z
end of the reporting period (2015: Nil). T—RF  E)o

30. PLEDGED OF ASSETS 30. EEK
At the end of the reporting period, none of the Group’s RIEHR NEFHREEE(ZE—RF: &)
assets (2015: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group’s BIEBEARNEBRITEE ZER-

banking facilities.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.BEFXS

Balances and transactions between the Company and its AARIEENBAR(EAKRRARZHES)HE
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have CEBERGWIFEREEHE  WERANE
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in WEE o

this note.

Unless otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial M EEAVBEMRATEEEIIN REERE
statements, the Group did not enter into any material AT 4

WV EMEREETRS  BERWED
related party transactions during the year and did not have R ELRRE T W AT ERAE A o

any material balances with related parties at the end of the

reporting period.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key FR - AEREFLIFIETEBHEMKE 2

management during the year are disclosed in the note 12 to B E 4R B I FSRER M FE12 ©
the consolidated financial statements.
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32.

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, financial derivatives, convertible notes and
other borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below. The Group’s accounting policies in
relation to derivatives are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
that counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 31
December 2016 in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables. In order to minimise credit risk,
management has certain monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade receivables regularly at each reporting date
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are adequately
made for irrecoverable amounts. The credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are commercial
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit- rating agencies. The Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s bank deposits. All the deposits are on a floating rate
basis.

The Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk. However, the interest rate profile
of the Group’s net deposits (being bank deposits less any
interest-bearing financial liabilities) is closely monitored by
management.

At 31 December 2016, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points (2015: 50 basis points)
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase/decrease the Group’s loss before tax and
accumulated losses by approximately HK$256,000 (2015:
HK$320,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the reporting date and had been applied to the exposure
to interest rate risk for the non-derivative financial liabilities
in existence at that date. The 50 basis points increase/
decrease represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual reporting date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2015.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures, primarily
with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”), for the years 2016 and
2015. Such exposures arise from provision of an internet
platform for the facilitation of education program in Chinese
Medicine and other advisory and training programs in
currencies other than the Group’s functional currency (i.e.
Hong Kong dollar). All of the Group’s sales are denominated
in RMB for the years 2016 and 2015.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32 i EREER S REE®

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group conducts its business transactions principally in
RMB. The exchange rate risk of the Group is not significant.

Liquidity risk

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents considered adequate by management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation
in cash flows. Management reviews and monitors its working
capital requirements regularly.

The following table details the contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual

SINGEE [ B (48)

AEE B AL EINEEOT R - AT ERER
PEFINERR  TERNFTERZREFEX
SINEE LRz ©

AEBIZUARBETERERS AEE
ZEREBITEK -

EE = mb

REEXAEEZRBESRER AEBEEER
HRREMRSFERANEEERRENZ
K ARAREXRGRHTEES MRER
CRMEBRBzTE - ERESTHMA REE
HEBEEHKe

TRHNAEERREMRNEREBEHOE
HER eRABRRBEATOANRAZRE
(BIEARTOFRETE 2 F B AF0) BAE @K
A NFRZ =P RHEE

rates) and the earliest date the Group can be required to

pay:
More than one  More than two Total
Ondemandor  yearbutless yearsbutless undiscounted Carrying
within one year  than two years than five years cash flow amount
EZXR —EhE MELLE FREE
B—ER R BREELNR RELHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr Fitn TiEn THAL Tin
At 31 December 2016 R=E-~Et-A=t-H
Financial liabilities SRBE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMER 32,560 - - 32,560 32,560
Convertible notes THREEE - 10,000 - 10,000 9,396
At 31 December 2015 R=E-2%+-A=t-H
Financial liabilities SREE
Trade and other payables ZHREMEMER 49,483 - - 49,483 49,483
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

32. HBAREER S REE

(Continued)
Financial instruments £RITHE
Categories of financial instruments TRTAZS%E
31 December 31 December
2016 2015
—B-REF —E—RF
+t=ZA=+—HB +tZ-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets TREE
Fair value though profit or loss BRERERATEHNE
— Held for trading —FEER 7,952 7,990
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash ER M EWFIE(BIERE MIREE
equivalents) B18H) 118,595 207,492
Financial liabilities ==k
Amortised cost BEIHRR 126,547 34,052
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32 BiEREER S R EE®
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) LRI E#E
Fair value hierarchy on a recurring basis BEEMBEETSEZ N FEER
Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/16
R—AFE+ZA=+—HB2ZAFEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—R -t 11} E= &5t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FHET FExT FHExT FHET
Financial assets TREE
Held for trading-listed equity HIEEBE—-LtW
securities IR A7 55 7,952 - - 7,952
Fair value hierarchy as at 31/12/15
R—AEF+-A=1+—HZAFEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- -t} E=4 &5t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT AT FAT
Financial assets EMEE
Held for trading-listed equity BEEE - L™
securities &N 7,990 - - 7,990
The fair value of financial derivative is determined using CROTAETEMNAFEDNFER - XHENE
binomial tree model and the inputs used in the fair value o UARAFEGEFMANE AZSIELFE T
measurement are volatility and discount rate. N RBRIR % o
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FRN eHEENRSREBBZE—RNE_L
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers ZHEYEER AN TESE  IEEASELESE
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial —R(—TB—RF : )

liabilities (2015: Nil).
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

33

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from 2014.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
mainly includes other borrowings and convertible notes, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION

At annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 May
2011, the Company adopted a new share option scheme
(“Share Option Scheme”) and the share option scheme
adopted on 24 November 2001 (the “Old Scheme”) became
terminated therefrom. The Share Option Scheme became
effective on 23 May 2011 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
Upon termination of Old Scheme, no further Options under
the Old Scheme can be granted but the Options which
have been granted during the life of the Old Scheme shall
continue to be exerciseable in accordance with their terms
of issue and the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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33.

146

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
options to any employee of the Group or any other persons
who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed
or will contribute to the Group to subscribe for shares of the
Company at a price determined by the Board and shall be
no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer of the option which must be
a business day, (i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the options; and (i) the nominal value of a
share on the date of offer of the options.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under the share option
to each eligible participant in the Scheme Option Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time.

Any grant of options to a participant who is a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or their respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding independent
non-executive director who is grantee). In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the
date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

33. I R HE B FrifM e

The movements in the share options of the Company

during the year ended 31 December 2016 are shown in the

following table:

AR RESTEI ()

HE—

T AETZAST-ALEE AR

Exercise At Granted  Exercised  Cancelled At
Name of Exercise period and price 1 January during during during 31 December
the participant Date of grant vesting period per share 2016 the year the year the year 2016
i i
“E-RE ZE-5E
SRENE RAH e BRARE  -A-B EAEM ERAR SRd# TSAST-H
HKS
A
Directors
£
Yuan Wei 09/09/2015 (9/09/2015-08/09/2025 028 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
RE “E-nENANE “2-RENANRE
“ECRENANA
1511212016 15/12/2016-14/12/2026 031 - 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
“EAEFTCATRR ZEAETZATRAR
ZECAETATIA
Zhang Jianxin 09/09/2015 (9/09/2015-08/09/2025 028 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
i) “E-RENANE “2-RENANRE
“ECRENANA
15/12/2016 15/12/2016-14/12/2026 0.311 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
“EAETCATRR ZEAETZATRAR
ZECRETATIA
Wang Welhua 15/12/2016 15/12/2016-14/12/2026 0.311 - 33,000,000 - - 33,000,000
ThE ZEETZATRR ZEAFTCATRAZ
ZECRETATIA
Subtotal 25,000,000 48,000,000 - - 73,000,000
5t
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE 33. IRz fH R S % =)
COMPENSATION (continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BARRET )
Exercise At Granted  Exercised  Cancelled At
Name of Exercise period and price 1 January during during during 31 December
the participant Date of grant vesting period per share 2016 the year the year the year 2016
i i
“E-RE ZE-RE
SRENE RnAH TRARERY BRARE  -A-B FRER O EATR FRd# TSAST-H
HKS
A
Others
Eft
In aggregate 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1.281 9,230,311 - - - 9,230,311
A% “EEN\ENAZTNR ZEERNENAZTNRE
ZE-ENAZ TR
In aggregate 09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0852 1493632 - - - 14,936,322
sk “ERNELANR “EENELANRE
“E-NELANA
In aggregate 10/07/2014 10/07/2014-09/07/2024 0.168 30,000,000 - - - 30,000,000
sk “E-MELATH “2-MELATRE
“EIMELANA
In aggregate 09/09/2015 09/09/2015-08/09/2025 028 289,000,000 - (169,400,000 - 119,600,000
gk “E-RENANE “2-RENANRE
ZEZRENANA
In aggregate 1511212016 15/12/2016-14/12/2026 0311 - 282,000,000 - - 282,000,000
gk ZEETZATRR ZEAFTCATRAZ
ZECAETCATIA
368,166,633 330,000,000 (169,400,000} - 528,766,633
Exercisable at the end of the year 528,766,633
RERTR
Weighted average exercise price HKS0.317%8 7 HK$0.3187  HKS0.28 7t - HK$032%L

MEFSEE
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The movements in the share options of the Company

AR RESTEI ()

RE-F—HF+-A=+—BILEE 52

33. I R HE B FrifM e

during the year ended 31 December 2015 are shown in the BERE BN T & -
following table:
Exercise At Granted  Exercised  Cancelled At
Name of Exercise period and price 1 January during during during 31 December
the participant Date of grant vesting period per share 2015 the year the year the year 2015
R R
“g-EE Z8-1f
BHERE RiLAH AR ERS SRG®E  -B-B  FRERY  ERTR FAEE ToAST-B
HKS$
BT
Directors
ES
Li Xiangjun 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1.281 2,349,534 - - - 2,349,534
ZifE “BE\ENAZHNE  ZEE\ENAZTN\RZE
“E2-\E)\AZt+H
09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0652 4363420 - - - 4,363,420
ZETNELANR ZETNFLANRE
“E-NELANA
Yuan Wei 09/09/2015 (9/09/2015-08/09/2025 028 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000
RE ZZ-RENANR ZZ-RENANRE
“ECRENANE
Yang Jiin 09/09/2015 09/09/2015-08/09/2025 028 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000
BER “Z-1ENANA “T-RENANEE
“ZCRENANE
Subtotal 6,712,954 40,000,000 - - 46,712,954
gt
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE 33. IRz fH R S % =)
COMPENSATION (Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BIRERTEE)
Exercise At Granted Exercised Cancelled At
Name of Exercise period and price 1 January during during during 31 Decarmber
the participant Date of grant vesting period per share 2015 the year the year the year 2015
i S
Z3-1F i
BEERL RHAE TRARGES BROFE  -A-B EMEM  EAOR EMEE TZAST-H
HKS
A
Others
Eft
In aggregate 28/08/2008 28/08/2008-27/08/2018 1,281 6,880,777 - - - 6,880,777
B “EEN\ENAZTNR ZEEN\ENAZTNRE
ZE-ENAZ TR
In aggregate 09/07/2009 09/07/2009-08/07/2019 0852 10,672,902 - - - 10,672,902
sk “EENELANR “EENELANRE
“E-NELANA
In aggregate 10/07/2014 10/07/2014-09/07/2024 0.168 42,000,000 - (12,000,000 - 30,000,000
sk ZE-CETIAT-A ZE-CETCAT-RE
S g
In aggregate 09/09/2015 09/09/2015-08/09/2025 028 - 274,000,000 - - 274,000,000
sk “E-MELATH “2-MELATRE
“EIMELANA
66,166,633 314,000,000 (12,000,000 - 368,166,633
Exercisable at the end of the year 368,166,633
RERTTR
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.437% T HK$0.28%B7m  HKSO.ITHTT - HK$031EL

SR
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

@

(Continued)

On 9 September 2015, the Company granted
314,000,000 Options to Grantees under the
Company’s Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 May
2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
number of share options granted was 314,000,000
(2014: 165,000,000). Of which, 40,000,000 options
were granted to the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) 70,000,000 Options were granted to the
employees of the Company (the “Employees”) and
204,000,000 Options were granted to the Company’s
external consultants (the “Consultants”). The fair value
of options granted under the Share Option Scheme,
amounted to HK$16,537,000 of average HK$0.053
each. The fair values of the outstanding options
were derived from Trinomial Option Pricing Model by
applying the following assumptions:

33. I R HE B FrifM e

BRETE )

@)

(%)

R-ZZE—AFNANE AR RBERZ
E——F R A +=BEMNERES
2| - [AEdR AR H314,000,00017 B A -

REBEE-T-—AF+-_A=+—BLF
[ B RIS RSB /314,000,000
— T — 04 : 165,000,00017 ) H /-
40,000,000 ERER T AR A EF
(TE % )+ 70,000,000 B8 A% 4 35 F A
~ Al e B([ 18 8 1) BA %204,000,000153
BRRER FAR B SNEREM(ER ).
REERE B L ERENQTEE
£16,637,0008 7L BN ERETFH A
0.053/ 7T o i ARITE AR A A TE LA
—EAHETEERGE  FTRAREL

T~

Expected length

of employment
and services
Date of grant Expected  (‘Expected life”) Risk-free Expected
(dd.mm.yy) Grantee volatility (in years) interestrate  dividend yield
BHERR
FRA% AR
RiHAH (SR
(B-A-%) ERA BHRE () EERERIE RERE®E
9.9.2015 Directors 61.35% 1 0.13% Nl 4=
“E-T5NANA F
Employees 61.35% 1 0.13% Nil 4
B8
Consultants 57.04% 05 0.08% Nl 4=
B
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

152

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

@

(Continued)

The Group recognised the total expenses of

approximately HK$16,537,000 in relation to share

options granted by the Company.

U

(i)

(i)

the expected volatilities for the Options granted
to Directors were using the average 1 years
volatility of the Company’s share price over
the year for the 40,000,000 option granted to
Directors as at 9 September 2015.

the expected volatilities for the Options granted
to Employees were using the average 1 years
volatility of the Company’s share price over the
year for the 70,000,000 options granted to
Employees as at 9 September 2015.

the expected volatilities for the Options granted
to Consultants were using the average 0.5 years
volatility of the Company’s share price over the
year for the 204,000,000 options granted to
Consultants as at 9 September 2015.

the applicable risk free rates were generated
from Bloomberg based on the Hong Kong
Government 1 years Bond Yield and 0.5 years
Bond Yield, matching the assumed life of the
options.

the expected dividend yields were estimated
based on the historical dividend, which was
ZEro.
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

@

(Continued)

On 15 December 2016, the Company granted
330,000,000 Options to Grantees under the
Company’s Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 May
2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
number of share options granted was 330,000,000
(2015: 314,000,000). Of which, 48,000,000 options
were granted to the director of the Company (the
“Directors’), 148,000,000 Options were granted to the
employees of the Company (the “Employees”) and
134,000,000 Options were granted to the Company’s
external consultants (the “Consultants”). The fair value
of options granted under the Share Option Scheme,
amounted to HK$34,575,000 of average HK$0.105
each. The fair values of the outstanding options
were derived from Trinomial Option Pricing Model by
applying the following assumptions:
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RZBE—R"F+-A+HB KRAIRE
NZE——FRA-+=BEAERR
& M AR AR H330,000,00017 f#
Pt o

REEZZT—R"F+TA=+—HIEF
£ &R IS IR 2L B 4330,000,00019
— T — A : 314,000,00017 ) EH A
48,000,000 ERER T AR A EF
(TE %) 148,000,00017 B B& # 5 F A
~ Al g B([ 18 8 1) BA %134,000,00015
BRRER T AR B SNEREM (B ).
RIEERE B ELERENQTEE
A34,575,0008 70 B ERETE A
0.105/ 7T o M ARTFE AR R A TE LA
—EAHETEERGE  FTRAREL

T~

Expected length

of employment
and services
Date of grant Expected  (‘Expected life”) Risk-free Expected
(dd.mm.yy) Grantee volatility (in years) interestrate  dividend yield
BHERR
FRA% AR
RiHAH (SR
(B-A-%) ERA BHRE () EERERIE RERE®E
156.12.2016 Directors 82.4% 10 1.84% Nil 4
ZE—"ETZATRA %
Employees 82.4% 10 1.84% Nil 4
B8
Consultants 82.4% 10 1.84% Nl 4=
B
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33. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

154

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

@

(Continued)

The Group recognised the total expenses of

approximately HK$34,575,000 in relation to share

options granted by the Company.

U

(i)

(i)

the expected volatilities for the Options granted
to Directors were using the average 1 years
volatility of the Company’s share price over
the year for the 48,000,000 option granted to
Directors as at 15 December 2016.

the expected volatilities for the Options granted
to Employees were using the average 1 years
volatility of the Company’s share price over the
year for the 148,000,000 options granted to
Employees as at 15 December 2016.

the expected volatilities for the Options granted
to Consultants were using the average 1 years
volatility of the Company’s share price over the
year for the 134,000,000 options granted to
Consultants as at 15 December 2016.

the applicable risk free rates were generated
from Bloomberg based on the Hong Kong
Government 10 years Bond Yield matching the
assumed life of the options.

the expected dividend yields were estimated
based on the historical dividend, which was
Zero.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LTD. - HE@KZAEEEERAT
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33.

34.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE
COMPENSATION (continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(b)  The values of the Options are subject to the limitations
of the Trinomial Option Pricing Model and a number
of assumptions which are subjective and difficult to
ascertain. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

(c)  The outstanding share options under the Share Option
Scheme as at 31 December 2016 was 528,766,633
(2015: 368,166,633) representing 16% (2014: 12.5%)
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

(d) If options are forfeited before expiration or lapsed,
the related share-based payment will be transferred
directly to retained earnings/accumulated losses.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 20 March 2017 the Company and Zhong He Xin Yuan
Technology Company Limited* & #Z ¥1 B & £ B R A 7l
(“ZHXY”) entered into a strategic cooperation agreement.
ZHXY is a company incorporated with limited liability in
the People’s Republic of China and is a member of the
China Nuclear Industry Group* & B 4% T % ££ E]. Zhong
He Xin Yuan owns the core technologies in the application
of nuclear technologies, including but not limited to the
design and setting of the standards of irradiation station,
and in the manufacturing and application of irradiation
accelerators. The reason for the signing of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement and the cooperation with Zhong
He Xin Yuan will enable the Company to venture into in the
business of irradiation. Details of which were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 20 March 2017.

33. I R HE B FrifM e

BRETE )

b)) BEENEEX=ZFEAMETEENZ
PRl A K2 2 TH £ B0 S B DARETE 2 (RRR AT
TE IBERRZEHAHAHEMGE
RERTE -

© RZE—XR"E+A=+—8"
BREEHET 2 EARTEOHER
# /528,766,633 ( — T — B F:
368,166,63317 ) (G AN R AR E B E 317
AEADEI16%( —ZE—PI4F : 12.5%)°

(d) frE BN EImE R AT - B RE
AR N RIBR EREREREARN,
REtEiE -
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RIZB—tEHF=ZA-+H ARAEPZHR
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35. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to the current year’s presentation.

36

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

35. Lk BB
EFUBRUBEE BT DFARER 2 27
R

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

36. A B B AR R 3=

ARFRBERZIBRARERIT -

2016 2015
b AY-3 —E-h%E
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FiEn FERT

Assets and liabilities EEREE

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER NG 60 92
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZIRE - -
60 92

Current assets REEE
Other receivables Hin iR 71,541 74,770
Amounts due from subsidiaries ) NEIE R 193,744 165,442
Financial assets fair value through profit or loss ~ #EiBERIEA T EFNEZ 2 REE 7,945 7,810
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRe&EEER 37,349 31,553
310,579 269,575
Total assets EEHRE 310,639 269,667
Current liabilities REEE

Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMEER 13,763 14,015
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHTB A RIFIA - 160
Convertble notes BEEE 9,396 -
23,159 14,175
Total liabilities =lirtcl 23,159 14,175
Net current assets RBEETHE 287,420 255,400
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBERE 287,480 255,492
Net assets EEFE 287,480 255,492
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

36. A1 A BA ISR R Ak ()

(Continued)

2016 2015
—E-RE —E-hfF
Notes HK$' 000 HK$’000
Bt TERT THER

Capital and reserves AR
Share capital IR 25 330,498 294,510
Reserves 1 26 (43,018) (39,018)
Total equity R 287,480 255,492

Yuan Wei
== /1
=

Director

EE

Zhang Jianxin
SREEET
Director

EE
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

37. B E 2=H1E

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December ITEWMBARIR -_E—XRF+-_A=1+—H8B2Z
2016 are as follows: FIBEWT
Place of
incorporation/  Paid up share capital/ Proportion
registration/ registered capital interest held by
Name of subsidiary operations the Company Principal activities
AL/
MEBLRER /el HERK/ERER RARRAEELA TRER
Directly Indirectly
Ei Rk
2016 2015 2016 2015
ZE-REF ZT-1F ZE-xF —T-1%
China E-Learning Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% - - Provision of management services to
(Hong Kong) Limited &% group companies
PEBEHE () BT LRk MEERTREERRE
BRAT
New Beida Business BVI Ordinary shares US$10,000 100% 100% - - Investment holding
StudyNet Group Limited  EBRLEE
MEAHEREERR AR 10000E T L BK RERR
Best Boom Enterprises BVI Ordinary shares US$10 - - 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited
Best Boom Enterprises ~~ ABRZEE 10T LBk REER
Limited
Bejing Hua Tuo Education ~ PRC Registered capital - - 100% 100%  Provision of occupational education,
Technology Company HK$40,000,000 industry certification course, skills
Limited (note @) training and education consultation
IRERSERRARAE HE 40,000,000 THBER REBEHE 7%% i
(Mfta) ReE BB
Bejing Ke Xiong Education  PRC Registered capital - - 100% 100%  Provision of occupational education,
Company Limited (note a) RMB5,000,000 industry certification course, skills
training and education consultation
GRREHERRAR  # AR5,000,0007 REBEHRNEDERE
(Fitita) AR RSN RBEHA
IN Medical (BVI) Group BVI Ordinary shares - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited HK$13,677,288
EABZEVIEEARLT REBEXHES  13677,88ELERMR REAR
IN Medical Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
EARBEERARAR  BA HK$3,000,000
3,000,000 &Mk REHR

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LTD. -
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. B ARz 1F @)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/  Paid up share capital/ Proportion
registration/ registered capital interest held by
Name of subsidiary operations the Company Principal activities
AL/
WELRER i/ sens  BRRE/ERER RRRSHRELA TERK
Directly Indirectly
Ei 53
2016 2015 2016 2015
ZE-RE ZE-TF ZE-RE ZE-0F
Hunan IN Medical Network  PRC Registered capital - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Development RMB14,530,808
Company Limited (note a)
HREABEEENRAYE b AR 14,530,808 REAR
BRAAHr) AR
Distance Education College  PRC Registered capital - - 51% 51% Provision of distance learning program
of Beijing University of RMB900,000 in Chinese medicine
Chinese Medicine
tRPBERS q: ARH900,0007C A A REFBEERYERE
EIRYEEh
Note: MsE -
a.  These are wholly-foreign owned enterprises established in the a.  AERBKILZINTEEARE-
PRC.
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting RERKERNEIMEE ZEMB AT ET
at the end of the year or at any time during the year. (B
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have material
non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned

37. B R 2= F@

F2EMBARMAEAIERE R 218

TRETAEEFZEMBARMAEAIE

subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling feREZS 2 5615
interests:
Place of
incorporation
and
principal Proportion of
place of interests held by Profit allocated to Dividend paid to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AR
HEATER TRERHY FERERMRELS ARFHERER 2EA EfiFEREERS ZitFahEs
31112116 3112115 3112116 3111215 3112116 3112115 3112116 3112115
-NE ik it -~E k3 -~F ik
tZA=t-B TZA=t-8 fZA=t-B +ZA=t-8 +ZB=t-R fTZA=t-B tZA=t+-B TZA=T-H
HK$' 000 HKS$"000 HK$' 000 HKS"000 HK$' 000 HKS'000
Thr TEn TER TEn TER
Distance Education College of ~ PRC 49% 49% 8,688 9,175 8,447 6,296 6,585

Beiing University of Chinese
Medicine
TReEESERAESR  fE

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interest
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. B ARz 1F @)

(Continued)
Distance Education College of Beijing University of Chinese b Rh B K ER 2 E 20
Medicine
2016 2015
—E-KRF —ZE-nF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TAT
Current assets MBEE 12,312 36,949
Non-current assets FREEE 213 241
Current liabilities nEaE (17,330) (16,746)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - -
Revenue Wiz 46,277 43,701
Other income H ez 53 41
Total expenses R (28,196) (28,011)
Profit for the year FRER 18,133 17,731
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEWBE 18,133 17,731
Net cash flow generated from operating activites ~ R&EEFTS 2 IS MEFEE 18,604 17,495
Net cash flow used in investing activities REEHAzR e REFHE (18,679) (17,197)
Net cash flow generated from financial activities RE RSB ReREEE - -
Net decrease in cash and equivalents RekReEEBEERFE (75) (298)
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